
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting 
Knight Administrative Centre 

1736 W Paul Dirac Drive, Tallahassee, FL 32310 
Thursday, April 4, 2019 

11:00am to 1:30pm 
 

Agenda 

1. Call to Order 

2. Introductions 

3. Modifications to the Agenda 

4. Public Comment 

5. Approval of Draft Meeting Minutes, February 7, 2019 (Attachment A) 

6. Consent Agenda  

a. Executive Committee Report, March 26, 2019 (Attachment B) 

b. Audit Committee Report, February 28, 2018 (Attachment C) 

c. Treasurer’s Report (Attachment D) 

d. Monthly Financial Reports  
i. January 2019 (Link: http://innovation-park.com/financials/01-19-monthly-report-

innovation-park/) 
ii. February 2019 (Link: http://innovation-park.com/financials/02-19-monthly-

report-innovation-park/) 

e. Investment Reports 
i. January 2019 (Attachment E1) 
ii. February 2019 (Attachment E2) 

f. Audited Financial Statements 2017-2018 (Attachments F1-F2) 
Executive Committee and Audit Committee request ratification of their approval of the 
Audited Financial Statements for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018.  The 
auditor’s report included an unmodified opinion and the auditors identified no issues 
related to internal controls, or recommendations to management. 

g. Big Bend Floor Covering, LLC Agreement (Attachments G1-G2) 
Executive Committee requests ratification of its approval to award to Big Bend Floor 
Covering, LLC a contract in the amount of $22,497.95 for the replacement of carpet in 
the Johnson Building National Park Service leased space in compliance with GSA lease 
requirements. This amount was not budgeted for this fiscal year. The authority received 
the three attached bids for both roll carpet and carpet squares.   

h. Innovation Park TLH, Inc. Loan Agreement (Attachment H) 
Executive Committee requests ratification of its approval of a Loan Agreement with 
Innovation Park TLH, Inc. (IPTLH) for the periodic advancement of funds to meet the 
initial working capital needs of IPTLH.  The loan shall be non-interest bearing, payable 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 1 of 186



upon demand by the Authority, with a maximum amount of $10,000.  The maximum 
amount may be increased by agreement of the parties via amendment to the Loan 
Agreement. The Authority will annually review the ability of IPTLH to repay the debt and 
may demand payment accordingly. 

 
 END OF CONSENT AGENDA 

7. Collins Building Repair & Renovation Agreement (Attachments I1-I4) 
Executive Committee requests ratification of its approval to award to Oliver Sperry Renovation 
& Construction, Inc (OS) the contract in the amount of $157,345 for RFP 19-02 for repair & 
renovation of the Collins Building.  Based on a preliminary estimate, the board approved a 
budget of $70,000 for the project when approving the RFP. A report detailing staff’s review and 
recommendation is attached.   

8. Business Incubator Discussion 
a. EDA Grant Debrief 
b. Next steps related to the development of the Business Incubator 
c. Governance structure  

9. Compensation Committee Discussion 
As requested by the Executive Committee, staff will present a proposal to form a compensation 
committee to review the salaries and benefits provided by the Authority.  

10. Chair’s Report 
a. TechGrant Pitch Night Governor Participation (Attachment J) 

11. Staff Reports 
a. Executive Director (Attachment K1) 
b. Director of Entrepreneurship (Attachment K2) 
c. Director of Programs and Communications (Attachment K3) 
d. Property Manager (Attachment K4) 

12. New Business 

13. Adjourn 

 
Upcoming Meetings and Events: 

 
TechGrant Pitch Night: Thursday, May 16, 2019, 5:30-7:30pm 

Goodwood Museum and Gardens, Carriage House 
 

Board of Governors Meeting: Thursday, June 6, 2019, 11:00am – 1:30pm 
Subsequent meetings held the first Thursday of even numbered months. 

 
 

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 2 of 186



1 

Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting 

Thursday, February 7, 2019 
11:00am to 1:30pm 

Knight Administrative Centre 
1736 W Paul Dirac Drive, Tallahassee, FL 32310 

DRAFT Minutes 

Members in Attendance: Dave Ramsay, Kim Williams, Anne Longman, April Salter, Kristin Dozier, 
Keith Bowers, Ray Bye, Paul Dean, Eric Holmes, Shawnta Friday-Stroud. 

Members Not in Attendance: John Dailey, Kimberly Moore. 

Guests: Stephanie Shoulet, NAI Talcor; Thomas Whitley, Mayor’s Chief of Staff; Ron Miller, Michael 
Tentnowski, Denise Bilbow, and Peggy Bielby, LCRDA Staff. 

1. Call to Order
Chair Dave Ramsay called the meeting to order at 11:06am.

2. Introductions
All present introduced themselves.

3. Modifications to the Agenda
None.

4. Public Comment
None.

5. Approval of Draft Meeting Minutes, December 6, 2018
Paul Dean offered a motion to approve the December 6, 2018 Board of Governors meeting minutes.

Kristin Dozier seconded the motion which passed unanimously.

6. Consent Agenda
a. Executive Committee Report, January 28, 2019
b. Treasurer’s Report
c. Monthly Financial Reports Audit Committee Report, October 29, 2018

i. November 2018
ii. December 2018

d. Investment Reports
i. November 2018
ii. December 2018

e. IBR 19-01 HVAC Preventative Maintenance & Repair Agreement
Executive Committee requests ratification of its approval to award Informal Bid Request 19-01
to the lowest bidder Engineered Cooling Services, Inc. (ECS.)  The authority received two bids 
in response to its request and ECS price is $13,797.48 per year, which was $482.52 per year less 
than the second bidder.  The agreement is for one year with Authority options for two additional 
one-year terms at the same price. 

f. Collins Building Renovation
Executive Committee requests ratification of its approval to issue RFP 19-02 for partial
renovation of the Collins Building to allow for relocation of the Authority offices and Knight 
tenants, to begin developing programs, and to begin incubating companies.  Renovations will 
include basic clean up and repairs necessary to get the lab ready for general use of one private 

Attachment A 
Page 1 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 3 of 186



2 
 

lab, and a large shared lab. Renovations are expected to cost between $60,000 and $70,000 for 
carpet, paint, ceiling tiles, repairs to doors, partitioning doors, kitchen plumbing and cabinets, 
and partition wall removal to create a large meeting room. A detailed furniture and equipment 
budget will be submitted separately but will not exceed $25,000. This amount was not 
previously budgeted and would come from reserve funds if approved by the Board. 

 

April Salter offered a motion to approve the Consent Agenda. Anne Longman seconded the motion 
which passed unanimously. 
 

Keith Bowers joined the meeting at 11:19am. 
 

7. EDA Grant Status Update  
Ron Miller reported that there has been no response yet from the EDA on the grant application. 

 

8. Innovation Park TLH, Inc. Non-profit Incorporation Documents 
Executive Committee supports and requests approval of the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws, 
and Organization Action documents, and direction to file documents with the State of Florida 
necessary to create the Innovation Park TLH, Inc. non-profit corporation. The documents as 
prepared differ from the direction previously given by the Board. Upon further review by 
General Counsel, the Authority did not qualify to create the previously proposed structure. 
 

Kristin Dozier noted that the structure of the non-profit entity was considered and discussed at length 
by the Executive Committee. 

 

Kim Williams offered a motion to approve the Articles of Incorporation, Bylaws and Organizational 
Action documents, and to file documents with the State of Florida to create the Innovation Park TLH, 
Inc. non-profit corporation. Kristin Dozier seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 
 

Kristin Dozier offered a motion to direct the Executive Director to proceed with taking the steps 
necessary fund the expenditures to incorporate the entity, establish the 501c3 status, establish a bank 
account, and to do all other things necessary to establish the business. Ray Bye seconded the motion 
which passed unanimously. 
 

Dave Ramsay asked the Board to share the names of any individuals to serve on the Innovation Park 
TLH board or on an advisory committee with Ron Miller. 

 

9. TechGrant Pitch Night Discussion 
As previously directed by the board, staff seeks input regarding how to better promote 
Innovation Park at the May 16, 2019 pitch event to be held and Goodwood Museum and 
Gardens Carriage House from 5:30pm – 7:30pm. 
 

Denise Bilbow reviewed the current plans and preparation for the event. Additional suggestions for 
promotion included exhibits from Park entities, “behind the scenes” tour giveaway/drawing, approach 
850 and Tallahassee magazines as a sponsor/full page ad, social media voting, brainstorm a 
partnership with the Airport Advisory Board, brainstorm with the PR firms who assist, recruit 
volunteers, and strongly encourage Board members to assist and attend. 

 

10. Strategic Plan Discussion 
Staff has compiled the ideas presented at the December 6, 2018 strategic planning meeting, 
subsequent ideas submitted by board members, and formatted the attached draft as directed by 
the Executive Committee. Staff seeks further direction.  

 

Ron Miller thanked Ray Bye for his summary and input, and outlined the five major areas of 
Strategic Plan focus:  
o Incubator 
o Asset maximization and readiness 

Attachment A 
Page 2 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 4 of 186



3 
 

o Marketing and recruitment 
o Partnerships and collaborations 
o Resource assessment 

He requested Board approval of the main strategy items, which he discussed in more detail, and 
further requested that the Board defer considering and approving the specific actions to be taken on 
each item. The Board asked that staff prioritize the action items for future consideration and provide 
updates and progress reports on a structured basis at each upcoming Board meeting, with detailed 
updates one or two times per year. 

 

Kristin Dozier offered a motion to approve and adopt the strategic plan as presented by the 
Executive Director. Ray Bye seconded the motion which passed unanimously. 

 

10. Chair’s Report 
Dave Ramsay stated that all Board of Governor members should support, participate, and assist with 
events such as TechGrant Pitch Night. Staff will compile a list of specific tasks for Board assistance 
at the TechGrant Pitch Night event. 
He also requested that all upcoming events be included in the calendar notice at the bottom of every 
meeting agenda. 

 

12. Staff Reports 
a. Executive Director 

Ron Miller provided a leasing update and reported the trail permit issues have caused a slight delay; 
Audit Committee, now chaired by Paul Dean, will meet in March; and a slip and fall claim in Fuqua 
is being handled by the insurance carrier. 

b. Director of Entrepreneurship 
Michael Tentnowski reported on I-Corps II, SBIR/STTR program, EEP Class 16, collaboration and 
PR efforts. 

c. Director of Programs and Communications 
Denise Bilbow reported on TechGrant, Tech Topics, Science Weekend/MagLab Open House. 

d. Property Manager 
Stephanie Shoulet reported on maintenance updates and entrance signs are updated. 

 

13. New Business 
Kristin Dozier will provide a FAMU Way/Blueprint update. 

 

14. Adjourn 
  The meeting adjourned at 1:04pm. 

  
 

Next Meeting: Thursday, April 4, 2019 
11:00am – 1:30pm 

Knight Administrative Centre 
1736 West Paul Dirac Drive 

Tallahassee, FL 32310 
 

(Subsequent meetings held the first Thursday of even numbered months.) 
 

Attachment A 
Page 3 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 5 of 186



1 

Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Executive Committee Meeting 
Knight Administrative Centre 
1736 W Paul Dirac Dr 32310 

Tuesday, March 26, 2019, 2:00pm 

REPORT 

Members in Attendance: 
Chair Dave Ramsay, Vice Chair Kim Williams, Immediate Past Chair Anne Longman, Member at Large 
Kristin Dozier, Treasurer April Salter. 

Members Not in Attendance: 
None. 

Guests: 
NAI Talcor: Stephanie Shoulet; LCRDA Staff: Ron Miller, Executive Director; Michael Tentnowski, 
Director of Entrepreneurship; Denise Bilbow, Director of Programs and Communications; Peggy Bielby, 
Administrative Coordinator. 

1. Call to Order
The meeting was called to order at 2:03pm.  
Kristin Dozier offered a motion to approve April Salter’s participation in the meeting by electronic 
means. Kim Williams seconded the motion which passed unanimously without April Salter participating 
in the vote. 

2. Introduction of Guests
All present introduced themselves. 

3. Modifications to the Agenda
None. 

4. Public Comment
None. 

5. Approval of Draft Meeting Minutes, January 28, 2019
Kristin Dozier offered a motion to approve the January 28, 2019 Executive Committee meeting minutes. 
Kim Williams seconded the motion which passed unanimously.  

6. Audited Financial Statements 2017-2018
The Audit Committee requests ratification of its approval of the Audited Financial Statements for the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2018.  The auditor’s report included an unmodified opinion and they 
identified no issues related to internal controls, or recommendations to management.  
The Executive Committee noted that auditors have offered an unmodified opinion for several years in a 
row, and commended staff on this achievement.  
Kim Williams offered a motion to ratify the approval of the Audit Committee’s approval of the Audited 
Financial Statements for FY 17-18. Anne Longman seconded the motion which passed unanimously. 

Attachment B 
Page 1 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 6 of 186



2 
 

7. Collins Building Repair & Renovation Agreement  
Staff requests approval of the Reviewers recommendation to award to Oliver Sperry Renovation & 
Construction, Inc (OS) the contract in the amount of $157,345 for RFP 19-02 for repair & renovation of 
the Collins Building.  Based on a preliminary estimate, the board approved a budget of $70,000 for the 
project when approving the RFP. A report detailing the review and recommendation is attached. 
After discussion the Committee agreed with the Executive Director’s concern that the less-detailed lower 
bids were unreliably low, yielding the potential for extensive change orders. The Committee directed that 
this item be placed on the general business portion of the Board of Governors April 4, 2019 meeting 
agenda. 
Kim Williams offered a motion to approve the recommendation of the award to Oliver Sperry Renovation 
& Construction, Inc. subject to ratification by the Board of Governors. Kristin Dozier seconded the 
motion which passed unanimously. 
 

8. Big Bend Floor Covering, LLC Agreement  
Staff requests approval of its recommendation to award to Big Bend Floor Covering, LLC a contract in 
the amount of $22,497.95 for the replacement of carpet in the Johnson Building National Park Service 
leased space in compliance with GSA lease requirements. This amount was not budgeted for this fiscal 
year. The authority received the three attached bids for both roll carpet and carpet squares.   
Anne Longman offered a motion to approve the recommendation to award Big Bend Floor Covering the 
contract. Kristin Dozier seconded the motion which passed unanimously. 
 

9. Innovation Park TLH, Inc. Loan Agreement  
Staff requests approval of a Loan Agreement with Innovation Park TLH, Inc. (IPTLH) for the periodic 
advancement of funds to meet the initial working capital needs of IPTLH.  The loan shall be non-interest 
bearing, payable upon demand by the Authority, with a maximum amount of $10,000.  The maximum 
amount may be increased by agreement of the parties via amendment to the Loan Agreement. 
After discussion the Committee directed that the loan should be reviewed by the Board of Governors at 
the end of every fiscal year. 
Kim Williams offered a motion to modify the agreement to include annual review by the Board of 
Governors as lender of IPTLH’s ability to fund its working capital and ability to pay any amount due and 
demand repayment at its discretion. Anne Longman seconded the motion which passed unanimously.  
Kristin Dozier offered a motion to approve the Loan Agreement, as modified. Kim Williams seconded the 
motion which passed unanimously.  

 
10. Business Incubator Discussion   
a. Next steps related to the development of the Business Incubator. 

Michael Tentnowski presented an overview of entrepreneurship continuum and reviewed the application 
of the continuum components to Innovation Park and its mission and programs. 

b. Governance structure 
After discussion about the governance structure and next steps, the Committee agreed with the proposed 
structure and directed that next steps should be further discussed with the full Board at the meeting on 
April 4, 2019. 

 
11. Chair’s Report 
a. Compensation Committee 

Dave Ramsay asked the Committee to send recommendations to Ron for individuals from the community 
to serve on a Compensation Committee to review staff salaries and benefits along with comparable 
compensation structures. He directed Ron to present a proposal to the Board for consideration at the April 
4, 2019 meeting for how the committee should operate, as well as potential committee membership and 
schedule.  

b. Tech Grant Pitch Night Governor Participation 

Attachment B 
Page 2 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 7 of 186



3 
 

Dave Ramsay stated that increased participation by the Board in TechGrant and other signature programs 
is important. Denise Bilbow stated she had created a sign-up sheet for the May 16, 2019 TechGrant Pitch 
Night Event. This will be further discussed at the Board meeting. 

 
12. Staff Reports 
a. Executive Director 

Ron Miller reported that the trail has been delayed due to permitting issues, and completion is likely in 
June. He is reviewing lease options with DOT for the Phipps Building. He is continuing work on the 
Collins renovation and the IRS Form 1023 for IPTLH. 

b. Director of Entrepreneurship 
Michael Tentnowski reported that he will conduct a SBIR seminar on March 27, 2019 with 20 expected 
attendees. He is seeking SBIR certification by the EDA, as only SCORE and SBDC are currently listed as 
SBIR resources in Florida. 

c. Director of Programs and Communications 
Denise Bilbow reported that TechGrant winners will be announced tomorrow, March 27, 2019. 
TechTopics was held at the MagLab on March 6, 2-19 with 30+ attendees. The next one will be held in 
late August. 

 
13. New Business 

None.  
 
14. Adjourn 

The meeting adjourned at 3:55pm. 
 

Attachment B 
Page 3 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 8 of 186



1 

Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Audit Committee Meeting 

Knight Administrative Centre 
1736 West Paul Dirac Drive 
Tallahassee, Florida 32310 

February 28, 2019 
2:00pm 

REPORT 

Members in Attendance: Paul Dean (Chair), Shawnta Friday-Stroud, Eric Holmes, Kimberly Moore. 

Members Not in Attendance: April Salter. 

Guests: Kristy Bennett, Anna Carr (NAI Talcor); Allison Harrell (Thomas Howell Ferguson, CPA), Ron 
Miller, Peggy Bielby (LCRDA staff). 

1. Call to Order
Chair Paul Dean called the meeting to order at 2:02pm.

2. Agenda Modifications
None.

3. Public Comment
None.

4. Approval of the Audit Committee Meeting Minutes:
Kimberly Moore offered a motion to approve the October 28, 2018 meeting minutes. Eric Holmes
seconded the motion, which passed unanimously.

Shawnta Friday Stroud joined the meeting at 2:04pm.

5. Audit Presentation and Discussion
Allison Harrell reviewed the Draft Financial Statements and Draft Report to Those Charged with
Governance. She reported that the auditors encountered no difficulties or restrictions in conducting the
audit. There were no disagreements between the Authority’s management and the independent auditors
in the preparation of the financial statements. There were no significant changes or weaknesses in
financial reporting practices of the Authority’s internal control systems. The auditors had no
recommendations for improvements in the financial policies, procedures, or practices of the Authority.

6. Audited Financial Statements for Fiscal Year 2017-2018
Allison Harrell presented the auditor’s report and offered an unmodified opinion, which is the highest
level of assurance that can be given on a set of audited financial statements. She reviewed the
Statements of Net Positions; Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes of Net Position;
Statements of Cash Flows; and the Notes to the Financial Statements and other Required
Supplementary Information.

Attachment C 
Page 1 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 9 of 186



2 
 

Kimberly Moore offered a motion to recommend that the Board approve the Draft Audited Financial 
Statements for fiscal year 2017-2018. Eric Holmes seconded the motion, which passed unanimously. 

 

7. New Business 
 None. 
 

8. Adjourn 
 The meeting adjourned at 2:22pm 
 

Next Audit Committee Meeting: 
TBD 

 

Attachment C 
Page 2 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 10 of 186



 
 

 

 

   
    

 
 

   
 

 

 
 

 
   
   

    

  

 

 

  
 

 

   
 

Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Treasurer's Report 

April 4, 2019 

The following is a summary of the more significant items relating to financial position, 
financial operations, and the budget: 

Note: Year-end balances are prior to any GASB 68 or audit adjustments (if any) 

For the months ending 1/31/2019 2/28/2019 
and the year-to-date through 2/28/2019 5 months thru 

1) Balance Sheet
Increase/ (Decrease) 

Changes for the month: 1/31/2019 2/28/2019 
Operating cash $ 43,647 $ 66,992 

Receivables 1  $ (15,414) $ (67,307) 
Property  $ - $ -
Accumulated depreciation and amortization  $ (24,101) $ (24,101) 
Investments  $ 8,156 $ 7,746 
Total assets $ 10,635 $ (18,322) 
Total liabilities $ 17,593 $ (25,485) 
Total capital $ (6,958) $ 7,163 
1 FSU caught up on payments, and more CAM paid

2) Income Statement
YTD Month 

2/28/2019 1/31/2019 2/28/2019 
Interest income $ 38,789 $ 8,489 $ 7,791 

Net operating income (loss) 1 $ 96,386 $ 17,143 $ 31,264 
(before depreciation & amort.) 
Less: Depreciation & amort. (120,504) (24,101) (24,101) 

Net income (loss) $ (24,118) $ (6,958) $ 7,163 
1 1/19 included $6k audit fees and $1.8k advertisement; 2/19 included $5.3k Tech 
Grant sponsorship income 

3) Cash Flow Statement

1/31/2019 2/28/2019 
Beginning balance 125,780 $ 169,427 $ 

Operating Cash 

Net change 43,647 66,992 
Ending balance $ 169,427 $ 236,419 

Operating cash is adequate to meet current cash disbursement needs.  

Attachment D 
Page 1 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 11 of 186



 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 
 

  
 

  

 

 
  

  
  

  
  

 

 

 

 

 
 

Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Treasurer's Report 

April 4, 2019 

4) Budget Comparison Statement 
a) Revenues: 

Revenue Variances Year-to-Date thru: 2/28/2019 
Actual $ 466,970 
Budgeted 460,858 

Variance Favorable (Unfavorable) $ 6,112 

Variance breakdown: 
Rent 
Interest income 

EEP program revenue 1 

Other program revenue2 

All other 
Variance Favorable (Unfavorable) 

$ 

$ 

(23) 
6,357 

(1,400) 

1,250 
(72) 

6,112 

1. Did not receive anticipated number of paying participants 
2. FAMU SBIR/STTR program moved to March--grant funding; Tech grant sponsorship 
revenue raised earlier than budgeted 

b) Operating Expenses (before Depreciation and Amortization): 
Operating Expenses Year-to-Date thru: 2/28/2019 

Budgeted $ 420,889 
Actual 370,585 

Variance Favorable (Unfavorable) $ 50,304 

Operating Expense Variances Favorable/ 
(Unfavorable) Year-to-Date thru: 2/28/2019 

Payroll $ 204 
Utilities (2,615) 

Repairs/Maintenance 1 28,825 
Cleaning & Improvements 1,463 

Services 2 4,378 

Property Administration 3 18,049 
Total Favorable Variance $ 50,304 

1. Phipps building painting not yet completed $20k--started in March 
2. Timing of HVAC PM Services and annual extermination contract 
3. Professional fees $6.7k favorable, Travel $4.5k favorable, Other Program Expense (timing) 
$4.7k favorable 

Respectfully submitted, 
April Salter, Treasurer 

Attachment D 
Page 2 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 12 of 186



For the Month:

SECURITY OWNED BALANCE BOM EARNINGS ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS BALANCE EOM YIELD

FL PRIME 2,751,810.75$     6,249.80$      -$                    -$  2,758,060.55$         2.674%

SPIA 1,075,219.79       2,114.62        - - 1,077,334.41           2.313%

3,827,030.54$     8,364.42$      -$  -$  3,835,394.96$         2.623%

For the Fiscal Year Beginning October 1:

SECURITY OWNED BALANCE BOP EARNINGS ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS BALANCE EOP YIELD

FL PRIME 2,017,629.13$     22,431.42$    718,000.00$        -$  2,758,060.55$         2.511%

SPIA 1,787,365.58       7,968.83        - 718,000.00 1,077,334.41           2.047%

3,804,994.71$     30,400.25$    718,000.00$        718,000.00$       3,835,394.96$         2.397%

SPIA Available Balance (see security description for minimum balance requirements) 433,305.04$            
Investments Designated for Capital Projects 1,400,000.00$         
Undesignated Investments 2,435,394.96$         

NOTABLE ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO ACCOUNTS:

Note:  Security descriptions shown on reverse

LEON COUNTY RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

For period ending January 31, 2019

10/18 Transferred $718,000 from SPIA to FL PRIME to take advantage of higher returns and expected continued rising interest rates; 
this was the maximum allowed liquidation from SPIA

Attachment E1 
Page 1 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 13 of 186



SECURITY DESCRIPTIONS:



 SPIA – Florida Treasury Special Purpose Investment Trust – The Florida State Treasury operates a special investment 
program for public entities other than the State.  This program is authorized in Section 17.61(1), Florida Statutes and is 
called the Treasury Special Purpose Investment Account (SPIA).    Component units of the State, Universities, or Colleges 
that are created by the Florida Constitution or Florida Statutes are eligible to invest in SPIA. Current non-component unit 
participants, like the Authority, are allowed to stay in the program with capped investment limits and a minimum balance 
equal to 60% of the previous 3 months average balance. Liquidations in excess of the minimum balance require 6 months’ 
notice.  SPIA funds are invested in the same portfolio as Treasury funds, so the pool of funds has a stable base of funds (over 
85% of the funds are captive trust funds) not needed for immediate disbursement.  These funds are invested in a combination 
of short-term liquid instruments and intermediate-term fixed income securities.  This “barbell” investment strategy, along 
with incremental income produced by securities lending, has the ability to return higher yields than a typical money market 
fund.  Participants have the ability to invest and obtain fund withdrawals same day with an 11:00 a.m. deadline for notifying 
the Treasury.  The SPIA maintains a credit rating of A+f by Standard & Poor’s.

FL PRIME - SBA Florida Prime - The Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund (Florida PRIME) was created by an Act 
of the Florida Legislature in 1977 and currently serves over 800 participants across the state. Invests exclusively in short-
term, high-quality fixed-income securities rated in the highest short-term rating category by one or more nationally 
recognized statistical rating organizations, or securities of comparable quality. Seeks to maintain a $1.00 value and maintain 
a weighted average maturity of 60 days or less, with the maximum maturity of any investment limited to 397 days.  Rated 
AAAm by Standard & Poor's, the highest rating available for a local government investment pool. Complies with legislation 
that requires numerous operational and reporting enhancements, including restating investment objectives to emphasize 
safety, liquidity and competitive returns with minimization of risks; and providing for enhanced internal controls, 
transparency and communication. Federated Investors has managed the assets of Florida PRIME to the exact specifications 
of its investment policies since February 13, 2008.

Attachment E1 
Page 2 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 14 of 186



0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%
2/
15

4/
15

6/
15

8/
15

10
/1
5

12
/1
5

2/
16

4/
16

6/
16

8/
16

10
/1
6

12
/1
6

2/
17

4/
17

6/
17

8/
17

10
/1
7

12
/1
7

2/
18

4/
18

6/
18

8/
18

10
/1
8

12
/1
8

A
nn
ua
li
ze
d 
R
et
ur
n

Leon County Research & Development Authority
Investment Yield

SPIA Annualized Return (Net) FL PRIME Annualized Return (Net)

SPIA 12 Mos. Moving Avg. FL PRIME 12 Mos. Moving Avg.

Attachment E1 
Page 3 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 15 of 186



 $‐

 $500,000.00

 $1,000,000.00

 $1,500,000.00

 $2,000,000.00

 $2,500,000.00

 $3,000,000.00

 $3,500,000.00

 $4,000,000.00

 $4,500,000.00
2/
15

4/
15

6/
15

8/
15

10
/1
5

12
/1
5

2/
16

4/
16

6/
16

8/
16

10
/1
6

12
/1
6

2/
17

4/
17

6/
17

8/
17

10
/1
7

12
/1
7

2/
18

4/
18

6/
18

8/
18

10
/1
8

12
/1
8

Leon County Research & Development Authority
Investments Balances

FLGIT Ending Balance SPIA Ending Balance FL PRIME Ending Balance

Attachment E1 
Page 4 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 16 of 186



For the Month:

SECURITY OWNED BALANCE BOM EARNINGS ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS BALANCE EOM YIELD

FL PRIME 2,758,060.55$     5,631.05$      -$                    -$  2,763,691.60$         2.661%

SPIA 1,077,334.41       2,024.67        - - 1,079,359.08           2.460%

3,835,394.96$     7,655.72$      -$  -$  3,843,050.68$         2.395%

For the Fiscal Year Beginning October 1:

SECURITY OWNED BALANCE BOP EARNINGS ADDITIONS DEDUCTIONS BALANCE EOP YIELD

FL PRIME 2,017,629.13$     28,062.47$    718,000.00$        -$  2,763,691.60$         2.541%

SPIA 1,787,365.58       9,993.50        - 718,000.00 1,079,359.08           2.130%

3,804,994.71$     38,055.97$    718,000.00$        718,000.00$       3,843,050.68$         2.400%

SPIA Available Balance (see security description for minimum balance requirements) 434,226.32$            
Investments Designated for Capital Projects 1,400,000.00$         
Undesignated Investments 2,443,050.68$         

NOTABLE ADDITIONS OR DELETIONS TO ACCOUNTS:

Note:  Security descriptions shown on reverse

LEON COUNTY RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

For period ending February 28, 2019

10/18 Transferred $718,000 from SPIA to FL PRIME to take advantage of higher returns and expected continued rising interest rates; 
this was the maximum allowed liquidation from SPIA

Attachment E2 
Page 1 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 17 of 186



SECURITY DESCRIPTIONS:



 SPIA – Florida Treasury Special Purpose Investment Trust – The Florida State Treasury operates a special investment 
program for public entities other than the State.  This program is authorized in Section 17.61(1), Florida Statutes and is 
called the Treasury Special Purpose Investment Account (SPIA).    Component units of the State, Universities, or Colleges 
that are created by the Florida Constitution or Florida Statutes are eligible to invest in SPIA. Current non-component unit 
participants, like the Authority, are allowed to stay in the program with capped investment limits and a minimum balance 
equal to 60% of the previous 3 months average balance. Liquidations in excess of the minimum balance require 6 months’ 
notice.  SPIA funds are invested in the same portfolio as Treasury funds, so the pool of funds has a stable base of funds (over 
85% of the funds are captive trust funds) not needed for immediate disbursement.  These funds are invested in a combination 
of short-term liquid instruments and intermediate-term fixed income securities.  This “barbell” investment strategy, along 
with incremental income produced by securities lending, has the ability to return higher yields than a typical money market 
fund.  Participants have the ability to invest and obtain fund withdrawals same day with an 11:00 a.m. deadline for notifying 
the Treasury.  The SPIA maintains a credit rating of A+f by Standard & Poor’s.

FL PRIME - SBA Florida Prime - The Local Government Surplus Funds Trust Fund (Florida PRIME) was created by an Act 
of the Florida Legislature in 1977 and currently serves over 800 participants across the state. Invests exclusively in short-
term, high-quality fixed-income securities rated in the highest short-term rating category by one or more nationally 
recognized statistical rating organizations, or securities of comparable quality. Seeks to maintain a $1.00 value and maintain 
a weighted average maturity of 60 days or less, with the maximum maturity of any investment limited to 397 days.  Rated 
AAAm by Standard & Poor's, the highest rating available for a local government investment pool. Complies with legislation 
that requires numerous operational and reporting enhancements, including restating investment objectives to emphasize 
safety, liquidity and competitive returns with minimization of risks; and providing for enhanced internal controls, 
transparency and communication. Federated Investors has managed the assets of Florida PRIME to the exact specifications 
of its investment policies since February 13, 2008.

Attachment E2 
Page 2 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 18 of 186



0.00%

1.00%

2.00%

3.00%
3/
15

5/
15

7/
15

9/
15

11
/1
5

1/
16

3/
16

5/
16

7/
16

9/
16

11
/1
6

1/
17

3/
17

5/
17

7/
17

9/
17

11
/1
7

1/
18

3/
18

5/
18

7/
18

9/
18

11
/1
8

1/
19

A
nn
ua
li
ze
d 
R
et
ur
n

Leon County Research & Development Authority
Investment Yield

SPIA Annualized Return (Net) FL PRIME Annualized Return (Net)

SPIA 12 Mos. Moving Avg. FL PRIME 12 Mos. Moving Avg.

Attachment E2 
Page 3 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 19 of 186



 $‐

 $500,000.00

 $1,000,000.00

 $1,500,000.00

 $2,000,000.00

 $2,500,000.00

 $3,000,000.00

 $3,500,000.00

 $4,000,000.00

 $4,500,000.00
3/
15

5/
15

7/
15

9/
15

11
/1
5

1/
16

3/
16

5/
16

7/
16

9/
16

11
/1
6

1/
17

3/
17

5/
17

7/
17

9/
17

11
/1
7

1/
18

3/
18

5/
18

7/
18

9/
18

11
/1
8

1/
19

Leon County Research & Development Authority
Investments Balances

FLGIT Ending Balance SPIA Ending Balance FL PRIME Ending Balance

Attachment E2 
Page 4 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 20 of 186



Financial Statements 

Leon County Research and Development Authority 

Years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 
with Report of Independent Auditors 

Attachment F1 
Page 1 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 21 of 186



 

   

Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Financial Statements 
 

Years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 
 
 
 

Contents 
 
Report of Independent Auditors...................................................................................................1 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis ......................................................................................4 
 
Audited Financial Statements 
 
Statements of Net Position ...............................................................................................................8 
Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position ..................................................9 
Statements of Cash Flows ..............................................................................................................10 
Notes to Financial Statements ........................................................................................................11 
 
Other Required Supplementary Information 
 
Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability – Florida 

Retirement System ...................................................................................................................31 
Schedule of Contributions – Florida Retirement System ..............................................................32 
Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability – Health 

Insurance Subsidy Program .....................................................................................................33 
Schedule of Contributions – Health Insurance Subsidy Program ..................................................34 
 
Other Reports 
 
Report of Independent Auditors on Internal Control Over Financial 

Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an 
Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards ..............................................................................................35 

 
Report of Independent Accountants on Compliance with  

Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, Local Government  
Investment Policies ..................................................................................................................37 

 
Management Letter ........................................................................................................................38 
 
 

Attachment F1 
Page 2 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 22 of 186



 
 
 

1 

Report of Independent Auditors 
 
The Board of Governors 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Leon County Research and 
Development Authority (the Authority) which comprise the statements of net position as of 
September 30, 2018 and 2017, the related statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net 
position and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this 
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the 
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinions. 

Attachment F1 
Page 3 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 23 of 186



 
 
Page Two 
 
 

2 

Opinion  
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Leon County Research and Development Authority, as of September 30, 
2018 and 2017, and the changes in its net position and its cash flows for the years then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension 
Liability – Florida Retirement System, Schedule of Contributions – Florida Retirement System, 
Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability – Health Insurance Subsidy Program, 
and Schedule of Contributions – Health Insurance Subsidy Program, as listed in the table of 
contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although 
not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 
basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have 
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of 
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audits of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance.  

Attachment F1 
Page 4 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 24 of 186



 
 
Page Three 
 
 

3 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated 
February 28, 2019 on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial 
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe 
the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an 
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the 
Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 
 
 

 
 
 
Tallahassee, Florida 
February 28, 2019 

Attachment F1 
Page 5 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 25 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

 

4 

As management of the Leon County Research and Development Authority (the Authority), we 
offer users of the Authority’s financial statements this management discussion and analysis of the 
Authority’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018.  Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis is a narrative overview designed to: (a) assist a financial statement user 
in focusing on significant financial issues, (b) provide an overview of the Authority’s financial 
activities, (c) identify changes in the Authority’s financial position and operations, and (d) bring 
attention to individual concerns and issues.  This discussion and analysis should be read in 
conjunction with the Authority’s financial statements and notes to the financial statements which 
follow this section.   
 

Financial Highlights 
 

 During the current and prior fiscal year, several lease transactions impacted the financial 
performance of the Authority for the current year: 

o Effective November 1, 2016, the Northwest Regional Data Center increased its 
space in the Morgan Building increasing monthly lease payments $2,041, or 
$24,492 per year. 

o On April 25, 2017, the Authority entered into a lease agreement with the Florida 
State University Board of Trustees with monthly lease payments of $15,234, or 
$182,808 per year. The lease has been extended through July 31, 2020. 

o Effective April 1, 2018, the Authority entered into a short-term lease agreement 
with the Florida State University Board of Trustees with monthly lease payments, 
as amended, of $18,355.  The lease is expected to terminate May 31, 2019.  This 
lease added approximately $92,000 in lease revenue for the 2018 fiscal year. 

 On September 27, 2017, the courts confirmed Bing Energy’s Plan of Reorganization. As 
a result, the Authority was awarded and received its administrative claim of $43,714.  

 
 On April 5, 2018, the Authority entered into an agreement with Leon County for the 

construction of the Central Pond Trail.  The project has a budget of $184,905 and is expected 
to be completed in April, 2019. 

 The Authority completed major renovations of four restrooms in the Don Fuqua Atrium, and 
work is ongoing renovating restrooms in the Morgan Building.  Approximately $83,000 was 
expended for these projects in the 2018 fiscal year.  

 A new position, Director of Entrepreneurship, was created and filled in January, 2018. This 
increases the Authority’s staffing to three full-time and one part-time position. 

 
 No significant deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting were identified by the 

independent auditors for the year ended September 30, 2018.   
 
 

 

Attachment F1 
Page 6 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 26 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued) 

 

5 

Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
While identified as a dependent special district, the Authority is not considered by Leon County, 
its governing authority, to be a component unit of Leon County.  The Authority’s financial 
statements consist of the financial statements and the notes to the financial statements.  The notes 
to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding 
of the data provided in the financial statements. 

 
Fund Financial Statements 

 
The Authority follows financial reporting requirements for enterprise funds, which use the accrual 
basis of accounting.  This reporting follows accounting methods similar to those used by private-
sector companies.  As a business type activity, Authority operating revenues come from leases, 
maintenance, and management and common area management fees.  Nonoperating revenues come 
from interest earned on deposits with financial institutions and other authorized depositories. 
 

Enterprise Fund Analysis 
 

The Statement of Net Position provides useful information about the Authority’s financial position.  
The following table shows a condensed Statement of Net Position for the current and prior two 
years: 

Table 1 
Statement of Net Position 

As of September 30 
(in thousands)   

 

The Authority’s total assets and deferred outflow of resources exceeded total liabilities and 
deferred inflow of resources as of September 30, 2018, by $7.951 million (net position).  Of this 
amount, $4.156 million represents unrestricted net position that is available to meet ongoing 
obligations to tenants and creditors. 

2018 2017 2016
Change 

2018
Change 

2017

Assets

Current assets 4,241$       4,222$        4,236$        19$        (14)$        

Noncurrent assets 3,849        4,010          4,267          (161)       (257)        

Deferred outflows of resources 96             79              73              17          6             

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 8,186$       8,311$        8,576$        (125)$     (265)$      
Liabilities and deferred inflows of resources

Current liabilities 50$           37$            29$            13$        8$           

Noncurrent liabilities 164           131            105            33          26           

Deferred inflows of resources 21             16              18              5            (2)            

Total liabilities and deferred inflows of resources 235           184            152            51          32           
Net Position

Invested in capital assets net of related debt 3,795        3,949          4,224          (154)       (275)        

Unrestricted 4,156        4,178          4,200          (22)         (22)          

Total net position 7,951        8,127          8,424          (176)       (297)        
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources             
and net position 8,186$       8,311$        8,576$        (125)$     (265)$      

Attachment F1 
Page 7 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 27 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued) 

 

6 

Fund net position decreased by $176,275. Depreciation and amortization expense accounts for 
$289,323 of the decrease.  

Current assets consisting of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and prepaid expenses 
increased by $18,856 for the fiscal year 2018 from the fiscal year 2017.  Current liabilities 
consisting of accounts payable and accrued expenses increased by $12,147.  

 
Capital Asset and Debt Administration 

 
The majority of Authority assets are capital assets having a depreciated value of $3.795 million 
and representing 47 percent of total assets.  These capital assets primarily consist of Authority 
buildings leased to scientific research and development entities affiliated with institutions of higher 
education and other entities that foster economic development in affiliation with one or more 
institutions of higher education.   

 
Table 2 

Statement of Revenue, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
(in thousands)  

 
The following table summarizes the changes in net position for the current and prior two years. 
 

 
For the year ended September 30, 2018, Authority operating expenses exceeded operating 
revenues by $246,330.     
 
Total operating revenues increased by $228,772. This is attributed to a $22,030 decrease in other 
income from program grants and fees, and licenses; and an increase in lease revenue of $217,460. 
The net increase in lease revenue is attributed to an increase of $95,582 in the Morgan Building 
due in part from space added by Florida State University (FSU), an increase of $2,154 in the Knight 
Building, an increase of $153,431 in the Johnson Building due in large part to the FSU 
Anthropology lease, and a decrease of $32,610 in the Collins Building due to a reduction in space 
by the Florida Department of Agriculture.     
   
Total operating expenses increased by $126,224. Depreciation and amortization increased by 
$2,661. Salaries and benefits increased by $106,456 due to the addition of a full-time position, 
salary increases, and increased pension expense. Other expenses increased by $17,107 due 
expenses related to increased building occupancy such as utilities and janitorial services.  

2018 2017 2016
Change 

2018
Change 

2017

Operating revenues 942$        713$        697$       229$         16$         

Operating expenses (1,188)      (1,062)      (1,048)     (126)         (14)          

Operating income (loss) (246)        (349)         (351)       103           2             

Nonoperating revenues (expenses) 70           52            116        18            (64)          

Change in net position (176)        (297)         (235)       121           (62)          

Net position at the beginning of the year 8,127       8,421        8,656      (294)         (235)        
Prior period adjustment -              3              -            (3)             3             
Net position restated 8,127       8,424        8,656      (297)         (232)        
Net position at end of year 7,951$     8,127$      8,421$    (176)$        (294)$      

Attachment F1 
Page 8 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 28 of 186



Attachment F1 
Page 9 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 29 of 186



2018 2017
Assets
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 2,608,583$     2,646,561$     
Designated cash and cash equivalents 1,400,000       1,400,000       
Accounts receivable - leases and other, net 89,723            170,980          
Accrued interest receivable 2,818              4,219              
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 139,492          -                      

Total current assets 4,240,616       4,221,760       

Noncurrent assets:
Other assets 53,931            61,359            
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 3,795,211       3,948,824       

Total assets 8,089,758       8,231,943       

Deferred outflows of resources
Pension 95,753            79,174            

Total deferred outflows of resources 95,753            79,174            

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 8,185,511$     8,311,117$     

Liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 48,874$          36,727$          
Total current liabilities 48,874            36,727            

Noncurrent liabilities:
Unearned revenue 1,120              384                 
Net pension liability 163,199          131,058          

Total noncurrent liabilities 164,319          131,442          

Total liabilities 213,193          168,169          

Deferred inflows of resources
Pension 21,256            15,611            

Total deferred inflows of resources 21,256            15,611            

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets 3,795,211       3,948,824       
Unrestricted 4,155,851       4,178,513       

Total net position 7,951,062       8,127,337       

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and net position 8,185,511$     8,311,117$     

See accompanying notes.

Leon County Research and Development Authority

Statements of Net Position

8

September 30,

Attachment F1 
Page 10 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 30 of 186



2018 2017
Operating revenues
Leases 855,400$       605,329$       
Common area management fees 61,067           60,336           
Other income 25,436           47,466           
Total operating revenues 941,903         713,131         

Operating expenses
Salaries and employee benefits 388,073         281,617         
Depreciation and amortization expense 289,323         286,662         
Other expenses 510,837         493,730         
Total operating expenses 1,188,233      1,062,009      

Operating loss (246,330)        (348,878)        

Nonoperating revenues
Interest income 70,055           51,549           
Total nonoperating revenues 70,055           51,549           

Change in net position (176,275)        (297,329)        

Net position at beginning of year 8,127,337      8,421,478      

Prior period adjustment -                     3,188             

Net position restated 8,127,337      8,424,666      

Net position at end of year 7,951,062$    8,127,337$    

See accompanying notes.

Leon County Research and Development Authority

Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position

9

Years ended September 30,

Attachment F1 
Page 11 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 31 of 186



2018 2017
Operating activities
Cash received from tenants 858,234$      600,120$      
Other cash receipts 26,836          46,422          
Cash payments to suppliers for goods and services (518,757)       (478,095)      
Cash payments to employees (346,063)       (263,215)      
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 20,250          (94,768)        

Capital and related financing activities
Purchase of capital assets (128,283)       (5,066)          
Payments of capitalized fees -                    (24,175)        
Net cash used in capital and related financing activities (128,283)       (29,241)        

Investing activities
Interest and dividends on investments 70,055          51,549          
Net cash provided by investing activities 70,055          51,549          

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (37,978)         (72,460)        

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4,046,561     4,119,021     
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 4,008,583$   4,046,561$   

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash
 provided by (used in) operating activities

Operating loss (246,330)$     (348,878)$    
Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash

provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 289,323        286,662        
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Unearned revenue and net pension liability 21,944          17,632          
Accounts receivable - leases and other, net 82,658          (66,588)        
Prepaid expenses and other assets (139,492)       8,205            
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 12,147          8,199            

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 20,250$        (94,768)$      

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash and cash equivalents 2,608,583$   2,646,561$   
Designated cash and cash equivalents 1,400,000     1,400,000     
Total 4,008,583$   4,046,561$   

                                         

See accompanying notes.
10

Years ended September 30,

Leon County Research and Development Authority

Statements of Cash Flows

Attachment F1 
Page 12 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 32 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

Years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 
 

11 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Description of Organization 
 
The Leon County Research and Development Authority (the Authority) was created by the Leon 
County Board of County Commissioners pursuant to County Ordinance No. 80-68 in accordance 
with Section 159.703, Florida Statutes.  The Authority was created for the purpose of promoting 
scientific research and development in affiliation with and related to the research and development 
activities of one or more state-based, accredited, public or private institutions of higher education; 
for the purpose of financing and refinancing capital projects related to the establishment of a 
research and development park in affiliation with one or more institutions of higher education, 
including facilities that complement or encourage the complete operation thereof, as defined by 
and in the manner provided by the Florida Industrial Development Financing Act; and for the 
purpose of fostering the economic development and broadening the economic base of a county in 
affiliation with one or more institutions of higher education. 
 
The Authority has acquired land within Leon County to perform any and all functions related or 
incidental to the operation of Innovation Park, Tallahassee (the Park).  The Park is to provide a 
compatible location where selected applied research operations can be established to build upon 
and mutually benefit the economy of North Florida, the research capabilities of Florida A&M and 
Florida State Universities, and the services of Florida’s capital city. 
 
The Authority was notified on October 22, 1991, by the Office of the Comptroller, Department of 
Banking and Finance, State of Florida, that it had been reclassified from an independent to a 
dependent special district.  The Authority is not considered by Leon County, its governing 
authority, to be a component unit of Leon County. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
The Authority follows Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) financial reporting 
requirements for enterprise funds, which use the accrual basis of accounting.  Under this method, 
revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recognized when they are incurred.   
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
Operating revenues – Operating revenues generally result from providing services in connection 
with ongoing operations.  Operating revenues consist of lease, maintenance, management, and 
common area management fee revenues collected from tenants, as well as program fees and grant 
revenue.  Operating revenues are recognized as revenue in the period earned. 
 
Nonoperating revenues – Nonoperating revenues consist of interest earned on deposits held with 
financial institutions and are recognized as revenue in the period earned. 
 
 

Attachment F1 
Page 13 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 33 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

12 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash consists of demand deposits held at qualified public depositories, cash held with the State 
Treasury Special Purpose Investment Account (SPIA) investment pools, and cash held with the 
State Board of Administration (SBA) in the Florida PRIME investment pool (SBA PRIME).  For 
reporting cash flows, the Authority considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities 
of 3 months or less to be cash equivalents. Under this definition, the Authority considers amounts 
invested in the State Treasury SPIA and SBA PRIME to be cash equivalents.  
 
Qualified public depositories of public funds are required to provide collateral each month 
pursuant to Section 280.04, Florida Statutes.  The collateral is held by the Florida Division of 
Treasury or other custodian with full legal rights maintained by the Florida Division of Treasury 
to transfer ownership.  Any loss not covered by the pledged securities and deposit insurance would 
be assessed by the Florida Division of Treasury and paid by the other public depositories.  
Therefore, any amount of the Authority’s demand deposits in excess of FDIC protection would be 
fully insured or collateralized.  
 
Designated cash and cash equivalents consist of amounts for the completion of capital projects. 
 
At September 30, 2018, the Authority reported as cash equivalents at fair value $1,784,547 in the 
State Treasury SPIA investment pool representing ownership of a share of the pool, not the 
underlying securities.  Pooled investments with the State Treasury are not registered with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission. Oversight of the pooled investments with the State Treasury 
is provided by the Treasury Investment Committee per Section 17.575, Florida Statutes. The 
authorized investment types are set forth in Section 17.57, Florida Statutes. The SPIA carried a 
credit rating of A+f by Standard & Poor’s, had an effective duration of 2.97 years and fair value 
factor of 0.9796 at September 30, 2018. Participants contribute to the Treasury Pool on a dollar 
basis. These funds are commingled and a fair value of the pool is determined from the individual 
values of the securities. The fair value of the securities is summed and a total pool fair value is 
determined. A fair value factor is calculated by dividing the pool’s total fair value by the pool 
participant’s total cash balances. The fair value factor is the ratio used to determine the fair value 
of an individual participant’s pool balance. The Authority relies on policies developed by the State 
Treasury for managing interest rate risk or credit risk for this investment pool. The State Treasury 
may, at its sole option, require the Authority to maintain a minimum balance equal to 60% of the 
previous three months average balance. Withdrawals below the minimum balance will require six 
months’ notice.  Disclosures for the State Treasury SPIA investment pool are included in the notes 
to financial statements of the State’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. 
 

Attachment F1 
Page 14 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 34 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

13 

Cash and Cash Equivalents (continued) 
 
At September 30, 2018, the Authority reported as cash equivalents at amortized cost $2,017,629 
in the SBA PRIME investment pool, representing ownership of a share of the pool, not the 
underlying securities.  Pooled investments with the SBA are not registered with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, however SBA PRIME operates in conformity with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission’s Rule 2a-7. Oversight of the pooled investments with the SBA is provided 
by a group of individuals that function as a board of directors.  The authorized investment types 
are set forth in Section 215.47, Florida Statutes. The SBA PRIME carried a credit rating of AAAm 
by Standard & Poor’s, had a weighted average maturity of 33 days and fair value factor of 0.9999 
at September 30, 2018. Participants may experience restrictions on withdrawals from 48 hours to 
15 days.  The withdrawal restrictions may not exceed 15 days.  The SBA provides a separate audit 
of the SBA PRIME financial statements on their website www.sbafla.com/prime. 
 
Accounts Receivable 
 
Accounts receivable consists of amounts due from tenants for leases, common area fees, 
maintenance fees, and management fees. 
 
The Authority provides an allowance for doubtful accounts based upon the anticipated 
collectability of each specific account. At September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Authority has 
recorded an allowance of $53,544. 
 
Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation is computed on the 
straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets.  The estimated useful 
lives are as follows: 
 

 Useful Lives 
Buildings 10 – 40 years 
Improvements 5 – 20 years 
Equipment and furnishings 5 – 8 years  
Development costs 10 years 

 
Beginning October 1, 1986, capital outlays for the construction of streets, parks, water and sewer 
lines, and other types of infrastructure expenditures are capitalized and included in improvements.  
To date, all such completed projects have been transferred to and accepted by the City of 
Tallahassee. 
 

Attachment F1 
Page 15 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 35 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

14 

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 
Pension 
 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of 
the Florida Retirement System (FRS) and the Retiree Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) and addition 
to/deduction from the FRS’s and HIS’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same 
basis as they are reported by the FRS and HIS plans. Benefit payments (including refunds of 
employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with benefit terms. 
Investments are reported at fair value.  
 
Amortization 
 
The costs of obtaining various building studies are capitalized as finite-lived intangible assets and 
amortized over the life of the asset using the straight line method. 
 
Subsequent Events 
 
The Authority has evaluated subsequent events through February 28, 2019, the date the financial 
statements were available to be issued.  During the period from September 30, 2018 to         
February 28, 2019, the Authority did not have any material recognizable subsequent events. 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and 
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the reporting period.  Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
2. Ground Lease 
 
The Authority entered into an agreement on January 28, 1980, with the State of Florida Board of 
Trustees of the Internal Improvement Trust Fund (the Board) to lease Park lands from the Board 
comprised of 207.92 acres for a period of 94 years.  The agreement does not call for any lease 
payments from the Authority but specifies that the Park lands shall be used for research, design, 
development, light manufacturing and assembly, and educational and related purposes in 
furtherance of essential public purposes. In prior years, the Authority transferred its leasehold 
interest in approximately 33 acres to Florida State University. On March 18, 2014, the Authority 
transferred its leasehold interest in approximately 96 gross acres of developed and undeveloped 
Park land to Florida State University and Florida A&M University. 
 

Attachment F1 
Page 16 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 36 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

15 

3. Retirement Plan 
 
General Information about the Florida Retirement System (FRS)   
 
The FRS was created in Chapter 121, Florida Statutes, to provide a defined benefit pension plan 
for participating public employees.  The FRS was amended in 1998 to add the Deferred Retirement 
Option Program (DROP) under the defined benefit plan and amended in 2000 to provide a defined 
contribution plan alternative to the defined benefit plan for FRS members effective July 1, 2002.  
This integrated defined contribution pension plan is the FRS Investment Plan.  Chapter 112, 
Florida Statutes, established the Retiree Health Insurance Subsidy (HIS) Program, a cost-sharing 
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan to assist retired members of any State-
administered retirement system in paying the costs of health insurance.   
 
Essentially all regular employees of the Authority are eligible to enroll as members of the State-
administered FRS.  Provisions relating to the FRS are established by Chapters 121 and 122, 
Florida Statutes; Chapter 112, Part IV, Florida Statutes; Chapter 238, Florida Statutes; and 
Florida Retirement System Rules, Chapter 60S, Florida Administrative Code; wherein eligibility, 
contributions, and benefits are defined and described in detail.  Such provisions may be amended 
at any time by further action from the Florida Legislature.  The FRS is a single retirement system 
administered by the Florida Department of Management Services, Division of Retirement, and 
consists of two cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit plans and other nonintegrated 
programs.  A comprehensive annual financial report of the FRS, which includes its financial 
statements, required supplementary information, actuarial report, and other relevant information, 
is available from the Florida Department of Management Services’ Web site 
(www.dms.myflorida.com).   
 
The Authority’s pension expense totaled $43,248 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018. 
 
FRS Pension Plan 
 
The FRS Pension Plan (Plan) is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan, 
with a Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP) for eligible employees.  The general classes 
of membership are as follows: 
 
Regular Class – Members of the FRS who do not qualify for membership in the other classes. 
 
Senior Management Service Class (SMSC) – Members in senior management level positions. 
 
Special Risk Class – Members who are employed as law enforcement officers and meet the criteria 
to qualify for this class.   
 

Attachment F1 
Page 17 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 37 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

16 

3. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
FRS Pension Plan (continued) 
 
Employees enrolled in the Plan prior to July 1, 2011, vest at 6 years of creditable service and 
employees enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, vest at 8 years of creditable service.  All 
vested members, enrolled prior to July 1, 2011, are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 
62 or at any age after 30 years of service. All members enrolled in the Plan on or after July 1, 2011, 
once vested, are eligible for normal retirement benefits at age 65 or any time after 33 years of 
creditable service.  Employees enrolled in the Plan may include up to 4 years of credit for military 
service toward creditable service.  The Plan also includes an early retirement provision; however, 
there is a benefit reduction for each year a member retires before his or her normal retirement date.  
The Plan provides retirement, disability, death benefits, and annual cost-of-living adjustments to 
eligible participants. 
 
DROP, subject to provisions of Section 121.091, Florida Statutes, permits employees eligible for 
normal retirement under the Plan to defer receipt of monthly benefit payments while continuing 
employment with an FRS-participating employer.  An employee may participate in DROP for a 
period not to exceed 60 months after electing to participate, except that certain instructional 
personnel may participate for up to 96 months.  During the period of DROP participation, deferred 
monthly benefits are held in the FRS Trust Fund and accrue interest.  The net pension liability does 
not include amounts for DROP participants, as these members are considered retired and are not 
accruing additional pension benefits.  

Benefits Provided 
 
Benefits under the Plan are computed on the basis of age and/or years of service, average final 
compensation, and service credit.  Credit for each year of service is expressed as a percentage of 
the average final compensation.  For members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011, the average 
final compensation is the average of the 5 highest fiscal years’ earnings; for members initially 
enrolled on or after July 1, 2011, the average final compensation is the average of the 8 highest 
fiscal years’ earnings.  The total percentage value of the benefit received is determined by 
calculating the total value of all service, which is based on retirement plan and/or the class to which 
the member belonged when the service credit was earned.  Members are eligible for in-line-of-
duty or regular disability and survivors’ benefits. 

Attachment F1 
Page 18 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 38 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

17 

3. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
Benefits Provided (continued) 
 
The following chart shows the percentage value for each year of service credit earned: 
 

Class, Initial Enrollment, and Retirement Age/Years of Service  % Value 
   
Regular Class members initially enrolled before July 1, 2011   
   Retirement up to age 62 or up to 30 years of service  1.60 
   Retirement at age 63 or with 31 years of service  1.63 
   Retirement at age 64 or with 32 years of service  1.65 
   Retirement at age 65 or with 33 or more years of service  1.68 
   
Regular Class members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011   
   Retirement up to age 65 or up to 33 years of service  1.60 
   Retirement at age 66 or with 34 years of service  1.63 
   Retirement at age 67 or with 35 years of service  1.65 
   Retirement at age 68 or with 36 or more years of service  1.68 
   
Special Risk Regular   
   Service from December 1, 1970 through September 30, 1974  2.00 
   Service on or after October 1, 1974  3.00 
   
Senior Management Service Class  2.00 
   
Elected Officers’ Class  3.00 

 
As provided in Section 121.101, Florida Statutes, if the member is initially enrolled in the FRS 
before July 1, 2011, and all service credit was accrued before July 1, 2011, the annual cost-of-
living adjustment is three percent per year.  If the member is initially enrolled before July 1, 2011, 
and has service credit on or after July 1, 2011, there is an individually calculated cost-of-living 
adjustment.  The annual cost-of-living adjustment is a proportion of three percent determined by 
dividing the sum of the pre-July 2011 service credit by the total service credit at retirement 
multiplied by three percent.  Plan members initially enrolled on or after July 1, 2011, will not have 
a cost-of-living adjustment after retirement. 
 

Attachment F1 
Page 19 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 39 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

18 

3. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
Contributions 
 
Prior to July 1, 2011, the FRS was noncontributory for employees.  Beginning July 1, 2011, 
employees who are not participating in DROP are required to contribute 3% of their salary to the 
FRS.  The Authority is required to contribute at an actuarially-determined rate.  Contribution rates 
for the 2017-2018 fiscal year are as follows: 
 

  Percent of Gross Salary 
Class  Employee  Employer (1) 
   FRS, Regular  3.00  7.92 
   FRS, Senior Management Services  3.00  22.71 
   Elected County, City, and Special District Officers  3.00  45.50 
   FRS, Special Risk  3.00  23.27 
   Deferred Retirement Option Program – Applicable to 
      Members from All of the Above Classes 

  
N/A 

  
13.26 

   FRS Reemployed Retiree  (2)  (2) 
 
Notes: (1) These Employer rates include 1.66 percent for the postemployment health insurance subsidy.  Also, 

employer rates, other than for DROP participants, include 0.06 percent for administrative costs of the 
Investment Plan. 

 
(2) Contribution rates are dependent upon retirement class in which reemployed. 

 
The Authority’s contributions, including employee contributions, to the defined benefit pension 
plan totaled $9,187 for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, excluding HIS plan 
contributions. 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
 
At September 30, 2018, the Authority reported a liability of $82,749 for its proportionate share of 
the net pension liability.  The net pension liability was measured as of September 30, 2018, and 
the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of July 1, 2018.  The Authority’s proportionate share of the net pension liability was 
based on the Authority’s 2017-18 fiscal year contributions relative to the total 2017-18 fiscal year 
contributions of all participating members.  At September 30, 2018, the Authority’s proportionate 
share was 0.000274726 percent, which was an increase of 27% percent from its proportionate share 
measured as of September 30, 2017. 

Attachment F1 
Page 20 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 40 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

19 

3. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (continued) 
 
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, the Authority recognized pension expense of 
$22,131.  In addition, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to pensions from the following sources:  
 
 
 
Description 

 Deferred 
Outflows 

of Resources 

 Deferred 
Inflows 

of Resources 
     
Differences between expected and actual experience  $  7,010  $  (254) 
Change of assumptions    27,038    – 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings 

on FRS pension plan investments 
  

  – 
  

  (6,393) 
Changes in proportion and differences between 

Authority FRS contributions and proportionate share 
of contributions 

  
 
  23,182 

  
 
  (5,529) 

Authority FRS contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 

  
  2,662 

  
  – 

     
Total  $  59,892  $  (12,176) 

 
The deferred outflows of resources related to pensions totaling $2,662 resulting from the Authority 
contributions subsequent to the measurement date, will be recognized as a reduction of the net 
pension liability in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019.  Other amounts reported as deferred 
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in 
pension expense as follows: 
 

Year Ended 
September 30, 

  

2019  $  17,330 
2020    11,192 
2021    2,807 
2022    7,184 
2023    5,409 

Thereafter    1,132 
Total  $  45,054 

 

Attachment F1 
Page 21 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 41 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

20 

3. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions 
 
The total pension liability in the July 1, 2018, actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

Inflation  2.60 percent 
Salary increases  3.25 percent, including inflation 
Investment rate of return  7.00 percent, net of pension plan investment 

expense, including inflation 
 
Mortality rates were based on the Generational RP-2000 with Projection Scale BB table. 
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2018, valuation were based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2008, through June 30, 2013.  As of June 30, 2018, 
the investment rate of return decreased from 7.10% to 7.00%. 
 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was not based on historical 
returns, but instead is based on a forward-looking capital market economic model.  The allocation 
policy’s description of each asset class was used to map the target allocation to the asset classes 
shown below.  Each asset class assumption is based on a consistent set of underlying assumptions, 
and includes an adjustment for the inflation assumption.  The target allocation and best estimates 
of arithmetic and geometric real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized in the 
following table: 
 

 
 
 

Asset Class 

  
 

Target 
Allocation 1 

  
Annual 

Arithmetic 
Return 

 Compound 
Annual 

(Geometric) 
Return 

  
 

Standard 
Deviation 

         
Cash equivalents  1%  2.9%  2.9%  1.8% 
Fixed income  18%  4.4%  4.3%  4.0% 
Global equity  54%  7.6%  6.3%  17.0% 
Real estate  11%  6.6%  6.0%  11.3% 
Private equity  10%  10.7%  7.8%  26.5% 
Strategic investments  6%  6.0%  5.7%  8.6% 
         
Total  100%       
         
Assumed Inflation – Mean      2.6%  1.9% 

1 As outlined in the Plan’s investment policy. 

Attachment F1 
Page 22 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 42 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

21 

3. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
Discount Rate   
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00 percent.  The plan’s fiduciary 
net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current 
active and inactive employees.  Therefore, the discount rate for calculating the total pension 
liability is equal to the long-term expected rate of return. 
 
Sensitivity of the Authority’s Proportionate Share of the Net Position Liability to Changes 
in the Discount Rate   
 
The following presents the Authority’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated 
using the discount rate of 7.00 percent, as well as what the Authority’s proportionate share of the 
net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point 
lower (6.00 percent) or one percentage point higher (8.00 percent) than the current rate:   
 

  1% 
Decrease 
(6.00%) 

 Current 
Discount Rate 

(7.00%) 

 1% 
Increase 
(8.00%) 

       
Authority’s proportionate share of 

the net pension liability - FRS 
  

$151,020 
  

$82,749 
  

$26,046 
 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 
 
Detailed information about pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately 
issued FRS Pension Plan and Other State-Administered Systems Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report.   
 
HIS Pension Plan 
 
The HIS Pension Plan (HIS Plan) is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan 
established under Section 112.363, Florida Statutes, and may be amended by the Florida 
Legislature at any time.  The benefit is a monthly payment to assist retirees of State-administered 
retirement systems in paying their health insurance costs and is administered by the Florida 
Department of Management Services, Division of Retirement. 
 

Attachment F1 
Page 23 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 43 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

22 

3. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
Benefits Provided 
 
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, eligible retirees and beneficiaries received a monthly 
HIS payment equal to the number of years of creditable service completed at the time of retirement 
multiplied by $5.  The payments are at least $30 but not more than $150 per month, pursuant to 
Section 112.363, Florida Statutes.  To be eligible to receive a HIS benefit, a retiree under a State-
administered retirement system must provide proof of health insurance coverage, which can 
include Medicare. 
 
Contributions 
 
The HIS Plan is funded by required contributions from FRS participating employers as set by the 
Florida Legislature.  Employer contributions are a percentage of gross compensation for all active 
FRS members.  For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, the contribution rate was 1.66 
percent of payroll pursuant to section 112.363, Florida Statues.  The Authority contributed 100 
percent of its statutorily required contributions for the current and preceding three years.  HIS Plan 
contributions are deposited in a separate trust fund from which HIS payments are authorized.  HIS 
Plan benefits are not guaranteed and are subject to annual legislative appropriation.  In the event 
the legislative appropriation or available funds fail to provide full subsidy benefits to all 
participants, benefits may be reduced or canceled. 
 
The Authority’s contributions to the HIS Plan totaled $4,408 for the fiscal year ended        
September 30, 2018. 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions 
 
At September 30, 2018, the Authority reported a net pension liability of $80,450 for its 
proportionate share of the net pension liability.  The net pension liability was measured as of 
September 30, 2018, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was 
determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2017, with update procedures used to determine 
liabilities as of June 30, 2018.  The Authority’s proportionate share of the net pension liability was 
based on the Authority’s 2017-18 fiscal year contributions relative to the total 2017-18 fiscal year 
contributions of all participating members.  At September 30, 2018, the Authority’s proportionate 
share was 0.0007601 percent, which was an increase of 21 percent from its proportionate share 
measured as of September 30, 2017. 
 

Attachment F1 
Page 24 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 44 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

23 

3. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred 
Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions (continued) 
 
For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, the Authority recognized pension expense of 
$12,628.  In addition, the Authority reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 
of resources related to pensions from the following sources:  
 
 
Description 

 Deferred 
Outflows 

of Resources 

 Deferred 
Inflows 

of Resources 
     
Differences between expected and actual experience  $  1,232  $  (137) 
Change of assumptions    8,947    (8,506) 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings 

on HIS pension plan investments 
  

  49 
  

  – 
Changes in proportion and differences between 

Authority HIS contributions and proportionate share 
of HIS contributions 

  
 
  24,347 

  
 
  (437) 

Authority contributions subsequent to the 
measurement date 

  
  1,286 

  
  – 

     
Total  $  35,861  $  (9,080) 

 
The deferred outflows of resources totaling $1,286 was related to pensions resulting from 
Authority contributions subsequent to the measurement date and will be recognized as a reduction 
of the net pension liability in the fiscal year ending September 30, 2019.  Other amounts reported 
as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be 
recognized in pension expense as follows: 
 

Year Ended 
September 30,  

  

2019  $  7,208 
2020    7,204 
2021    4,236 
2022    3,086 
2023    1,818 

Thereafter    1,943 
Total  $  25,495 

 

Attachment F1 
Page 25 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 45 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

24 

3. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
Actuarial Assumptions 
 
The total pension liability in the July 1, 2018, actuarial valuation was determined using the 
following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the measurement: 
 

Inflation  2.60 percent 
Salary increases  3.25 percent, including inflation 
Municipal bond rate  3.87 percent 

 
Mortality rates were based on the Generational RP-2000 with Projected Scale BB table.   
 
The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2018, valuation were based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study for the period July 1, 2008, through June 30, 2013. As of June 30, 2018, 
the municipal rate used to determine total pension liability increased from 3.58% to 3.87%. 
 
Discount Rate   
 
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 3.87 percent.  In general, the 
discount rate for calculating the total pension liability is equal to the single rate equivalent to 
discounting at the long-term expected rate of return for benefit payments prior to the projected 
depletion date.  Because the HIS benefit is essentially funded on a pay-as-you-go basis, the 
depletion date is considered to be immediate, and the single equivalent discount rate is equal to 
the municipal bond rate selected by the plan sponsor.  The Bond Buyer General Obligation 20-
Bond Municipal Bond Index was adopted as the applicable municipal bond index.   
 
Sensitivity of the Authority’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in 
the Discount Rate  
 
The following presents the Authority’s proportionate share of the net pension liability calculated 
using the discount rate of 3.87 percent, as well as what the Authority’s proportionate share of the 
net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one percentage point 
lower (2.87 percent) or one percentage point higher (4.87 percent) than the current rate: 
 

Attachment F1 
Page 26 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 46 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

25 

3. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
Sensitivity of the Authority’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in 
the Discount Rate (continued)  
 

 1%  
Decrease 
(2.87%) 

 Current 
Discount Rate 

(3.87%) 

 1% 
Increase 
(4.87%) 

Authority’s proportionate share of 
the net pension liability – HIS  

 
$91,628 

  
$80,450 

  
$71,132 

 
Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position   
 
Detailed information about pension plan’s fiduciary net position is available in the separately 
issued FRS Pension Plan and Other State-Administered Systems Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report.   
 
FRS Investment Plan 
 
The State Board of Administration (SBA) administers the defined contribution plan officially titled 
the FRS Investment Plan (Investment Plan).  The Investment Plan is reported in the SBA’s annual 
financial statements and in the State of Florida Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.   
 
As provided in Section 121.4501, Florida Statutes, eligible FRS members may elect to participate 
in the Investment Plan in lieu of the FRS defined benefit plan.  Authority employees already 
participating in DROP are not eligible to participate in the Investment Plan.  Employer and 
employee contributions are defined by law, but the ultimate benefit depends in part on the 
performance of investment funds.  Service retirement benefits are based upon the value of the 
member’s account upon retirement.  Benefit terms, including contribution requirements, are 
established and may be amended by the Florida Legislature.  The Investment Plan is funded with 
the same employer and employee contributions rates, that are based on salary and membership 
class (Regular Class, Senior Management Service Class, etc.), as the FRS defined benefit plan.  
Contributions are directed to individual member accounts, and the individual members allocate 
contributions and account balances among various approved investment choices.  Costs of 
administering the plan, including the FRS Financial Guidance Program, are funded through an 
employer contribution of 0.06 percent of payroll and by forfeited benefits of plan members. 
 

Attachment F1 
Page 27 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 47 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

26 

3. Retirement Plan (continued) 
 
FRS Investment Plan (continued) 
 
For all membership classes, employees are immediately vested in their own contributions and are 
vested after one year of service for employer contributions and investment earnings regardless of 
membership class.  If an accumulated benefit obligation for service credit originally earned under 
the FRS Pension Plan is transferred to the Investment Plan, the member must have the years of 
service required for FRS Pension Plan vesting (including the service credit represented by the 
transferred funds) to be vested for these funds and the earnings on the funds.  Non-vested employer 
contributions are placed in a suspense account for up to five years.  If the employee returns to FRS-
covered employment within the five year period, the employee will regain control over their 
account.  If the employee does not return within the five year period, the employee will forfeit the 
accumulated account balance.  For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, the information for 
the amount of forfeitures was unavailable from the SBA; however, management believes that these 
amounts, if any, would be immaterial to the Authority. 
 
After termination and applying to receive benefits, the member may rollover vested funds to 
another qualified plan, structure a periodic payment under the Investment Plan, receive a lump-
sum distribution, leave the funds invested for future distribution, or any combination of these 
options.  Disability coverage is provided in which the member may either transfer the account 
balance to the FRS Pension Plan when approved for disability retirement to receive guaranteed 
lifetime monthly benefits under the FRS Pension Plan, or remain in the Investment Plan and rely 
upon that account balance for retirement income. 
 
The Authority’s Investment Plan pension expense totaled $8,489 for the fiscal year ended 
September 30, 2018. 
 
Deferred Compensation Program 
 
On November 18, 1997, the Authority adopted the National Association of Counties Deferred 
Compensation Program pursuant to Section 457 of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC). The deferred 
compensation plan allows for the voluntary participation of all eligible employees of the Authority. 
All assets of this plan, including all deferred amounts, property, and rights purchased with deferred 
amounts, and all income attributable to such deferred amounts, property, or rights, other than assets 
held in annuity contracts, will be held in a custodial account described in IRC Section 457(g). 
 
The custodian shall hold the assets for the exclusive benefit of the participants and beneficiaries 
and the assets may not be diverted to any other use.  Contributions to the plan for the years ended 
September 30, 2018 and 2017 were $15,904 and $15,336, respectively.   
 
 

Attachment F1 
Page 28 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 48 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

27 

4. Commitments and Contingencies 
 
Master Plan Update and Future Park Development – The Authority’s Planned Unit Development 
(PUD) master development plan for the Park was amended and approved May 15, 2013.  As of 
September 30, 2018 and 2017, $754,961 has been incurred and capitalized as park development 
costs.  The costs are being amortized over a period of 10 years.  Accumulated amortization of these 
costs is $684,941 and $650,129 as of September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively.  Such costs are 
for various projects including Park amenities, a business incubator program, PUD/DRI, 
landscaping and park beautification, and other miscellaneous expenses.  
 
On May 26, 2015, Danfoss and the Authority entered into a ground lease for Lots 1D, 2D and 3D 
through January 28, 2074 for $1.00 per year. Effective September 27, 2017, the ground lease was 
amended to add Lot 1E to the lease. The amendment requires the construction of a parking lot on 
Lot 1E and an approximately 40,000 square foot building on Lot 1D. Concurrently, Danfoss and 
the Authority entered into a Right of First Refusal Agreement granting Danfoss a right of first 
refusal to purchase approximately six acres of land adjacent to Lot 1E for a period of three years, 
with an option to extend the agreement for two additional one-year terms upon the payment of 
$10,000 before the expiration of the preceding term. 
 
Sunnyland Solar Ground Lease – On August 3, 2011, the Authority and Sunnyland Solar Re, LLC 
entered into a ground lease.  The terms of the lease include rental of approximately 9.8 acres.  The 
term of the ground lease is for seven (7) years, with an option to renew for two additional seven 
(7) year terms, for a total of twenty-one (21) years.  Sunnyland Solar Re, LLC, as tenant, will pay 
the Authority the sum of $7,000 per year for the term of the lease.  As an inducement to enter into 
this lease, an entity related to the tenant, Inkbridge, LLC, transferred $100,000 into an escrow 
account for unrestricted use by the Authority for purposes that will be determined by the Board in 
conjunction with Inkbridge, LLC.  The Authority expended escrowed funds during the fiscal year 
ended September 30, 2017 of $55,000. There is a $0 remaining balance in the escrow as of 
September 30, 2018.  Sunnyland did not exercise its option to renew and terminated its lease 
effective August 3, 2018. 
 
Innovation Park Central Pond Trail Project – On April 5, 2018, the Authority and Leon County 
entered into an agreement in which Leon County agreed to survey, design, permit, and construct 
the Central Pond Trail location at Innovation Park. The Authority deposited $184,905 in funds for 
the project with Leon County on April 13, 2018. As of September 30, 2018, Leon County has 
expended $45,413 in funds for this project on behalf of the Authority, which is included in 
construction in progress in the accompanying Statements of Net Position. The remaining balance 
of unexpended funds of $139,492 is included in prepaid expenses in the accompanying Statements 
of Net Position.    
  

Attachment F1 
Page 29 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 49 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

28 

5. Operating Leases 
 
Phipps Building 
 
The agreement with the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) for the Phipps Building is 
for 14,661 square feet and requires monthly payments of $10,719 beginning June 1, 2007, through 
September 30, 2022, with an option to renew for an additional five-year term at monthly lease 
payments of $2,444. 
 
Collins Building 
 
On June 12, 2007, the Authority entered into an agreement with the Florida Department of 
Agriculture and Consumer Services (FDACS) for 25% of the Collins Building.  The agreement 
was for 6,126 square feet and required monthly payments of $4,671 beginning July 1, 2007, 
through June 30, 2022, with an option to renew for an additional five-year term. The agreement 
was amended, effective May 31, 2016, to reduce the leased space to 1,926 square feet, to require 
monthly payments of $2,664 through June 30, 2022 and to eliminate the renewal option.  
 
Johnson Building 
 
On February 18, 2015, the Authority entered into a lease agreement with the Government of the 
United States of America with monthly lease payments of $22,065, annually adjusted for inflation, 
through February 17, 2020 with an option to renew for an additional five-year term. 
 
On April 25, 2017, the Authority entered into a lease agreement with the Florida State University 
Board of Trustees with monthly lease payments of $15,234 through July 31, 2019. Effective 
January 15, 2019, the lease was extended through July 31, 2020 with monthly lease payments of 
$15,691 beginning August 1, 2019. 
 
Morgan Building 
 
During the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Authority recognized other short-term 
lease revenues from space in the Morgan Building in the amount of $227,676 and $132,099, 
respectively. 
 
Administrative Office 
 
During the years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Authority also recognized other short-
term lease revenues from space in the Administrative Office in the amount of $11,189 and $9,217, 
respectively. 
  

Attachment F1 
Page 30 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 50 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

29 

5. Operating Leases (continued) 
 
Common Area Management Fees 
 
The Authority maintains all of the common area in the Park.  Owners of long-term leases purchased 
from the Authority and certain other tenants are charged an annual common area fee based on the 
Park’s adjusted annual administrative overhead costs divided by the developable acres.  For the 
years ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Authority recognized common area revenue in the 
amount of $61,067 and $60,336, respectively. 
 
Following is a table of the minimum future rentals expected to be collected over the next five 
years: 

 September 30,   
 2019  2020  2021  2022  2023    Thereafter  Total  
Johnson $420,003  $267,667  $267,667  $267,667  $267,667  $    370,496  $1,861,167 
FDOT 128,635    128,635     128,635    85,757    –   –    471,662 
FDACS   31,972    31,972    31,972    23,979    –   

 – 
   119,895 

Morgan   152,716    5,171    –    –    –   
 – 

   157,887 

Admin Center   7,917    –    –    –    –   
 – 

   7,917 

 $741,243  $433,445  $428,274  $377,402  $267,667  $    370,496  $2,618,528 

 
6. Capital Assets 
 
Following is a summary of the changes in capital assets for the year ending September 30, 2018: 
 

 
 

Descriptions 

 Balance at 
September 30, 

2017 

  
 

Additions 

  
 

Deletions 

 Balance at 
September 30, 

2018 
Buildings  $  8,824,586  $  64,519   $ –  $  8,889,105 
Equipment and furnishings    72,357    1,021    –    73,378 
Improvements    62,336    –    –    62,336 
Park and development costs    754,961    –    –    754,961 
Total capital assets subject to 

depreciation 
   9,714,240    65,540    –    9,779,780 

Accumulated depreciation    (6,401,337)    (281,896)    –    6,683,233 
Total capital assets subject to 

depreciation, net 
  

  3,312,903 
  

  (216,356) 
  

  – 
  

  3,096,547 
Construction in progress    –    62,743                    –    62,743 
Land    635,921    –    –    635,921 
Total capital assets, net  $  3,948,824  $  (153,613)  $  –  $  3,795,211 

 
Depreciation expense was $281,896 and $280,913 for the years ended September 30, 2018 and 
2017, respectively.  
  

Attachment F1 
Page 31 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 51 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 

Notes to Financial Statements 
 

 

30 

7. Designated Net Position and Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
The Board of Governors has designated unrestricted net position for each of the years ended 
September 30, 2018 and 2017 for future capital projects in the amount of $1,400,000.  In addition, 
the Board of Governors has designated cash and cash equivalents in the amount equal to the above 
designation. 
 
8. Risk Management 
 
The Authority is exposed to various risks of loss associated with normal operations and has 
purchased commercial insurance to mitigate such risks. 
 
9. Related Parties  
 
During the years ended September 2018 and 2017, the Authority entered into various transactions 
with a former tenant in which a board member of the Authority is a shareholder. Amounts due to 
the Authority as of September 30, 2018 and 2017 were $37,206 and $74,817, respectively. The 
allowance for doubtful accounts of $37,206 was recorded at September 30, 2018 and 2017 to 
establish a reserve for the uncollectible portion of these amounts. 
 
10. Prior Period Adjustments 
  
During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018 the Authority discovered that it had overstated 
2017 accrued leave liability by $13,448 and understated accrued utility liabilities by $6,804. The 
correction of these errors increased 2018 opening net position by $3,455 and required a restatement 
of fiscal year 2017 financial statements. 
 

Attachment F1 
Page 32 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 52 of 186



 

 

Other Required Supplementary Information

Attachment F1 
Page 33 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 53 of 186



2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Proportion of the net pension liability 0.000275% 0.000216% 0.000159% 0.000233% 0.017800%

Proportionate share of the net pension liability 82,749$       63,936$       40,209$       30,111$       10,830$       

Covered-employee payroll 275,517$     199,722$     179,219$     168,450$     113,542$     

Proportionate share of the net pension liability as a
percentage of its covered-employee payroll 30.03% 32.01% 22.44% 17.88% 9.54%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
total pension liability 84.26% 83.89% 84.88% 92.00% 96.09%

See report of independent auditors.

Leon County Research and Development Authority

Year ended September 30, 2018

31

Note:  This schedule is intended to show information for 10 years.  Additional years will be displayed as the
information becomes available.

Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability -
Florida Retirement System

Last 10 Fiscal Years

Year Ending September 30, 

Attachment F1 
Page 34 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 54 of 186



2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Contractually required contribution 7,829$         5,627$         3,883$         5,684$         3,888$         

Contributions in relation to the contractually 
required contribution (7,829)         (5,627)         (3,883)         (5,684)         (3,888)         

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                

Covered-employee payroll  $    275,517  $    199,722  $    179,219 168,450$     113,542$     

Contributions as a percentage of covered-
employee payroll 2.84% 2.82% 2.17% 3.37% 3.42%

See report of independent auditors.

Note:  This schedule is intended to show information for 10 years.  Additional years will be displayed as the information becomes
available.

32

Leon County Research and Development Authority

Required Supplementary Information

Year ended September 30, 2018

Schedule of Contributions -
Florida Retirement System

Last 10 Fiscal Years

Year Ending September 30, 

Attachment F1 
Page 35 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 55 of 186



2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Proportion of the net pension liability 0.00076% 0.00063% 0.00055% 0.00055% 0.00056%

Proportionate share of the net pension liability 80,450$       67,122$       64,459$       55,965$       52,330$       

Covered-employee payroll 275,517$     199,722$     179,219$     168,450$     113,542$     

Proportionate share of the net pension liability as a
percentage of its covered-employee payroll 29.20% 33.61% 35.97% 33.22% 46.09%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the 
total pension liability 2.15% 1.64% 0.97% 0.50% 0.99%

See report of independent auditors.

Last 10 Fiscal Years

Note:  This schedule is intended to show information for 10 years.  Additional years will be displayed as the information becomes
available.

33

Leon County Research and Development Authority

Required Supplementary Information

Year ended September 30, 2018

Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability -
Health Insurance Subsidy Program

Year Ending September 30, 

Attachment F1 
Page 36 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 56 of 186



2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Contractually required contribution 4,122$         3,322$         2,835$         2,098$         1,917$         

Contributions in relation to the contractually 
required contribution (4,122)         (3,322)         (2,835)         (2,098)         (1,917)         

Contribution deficiency (excess) -$                -$                -$                -$                -$                

Covered-employee payroll 275,517$     199,722$     179,219$     168,450$     113,542$     

Contributions as a percentage of covered-
employee payroll 1.50% 1.66% 1.58% 1.25% 1.69%

See report of independent auditors.

Last 10 Fiscal Years

Note:  This schedule is intended to show information for 10 years.  Additional years will be displayed as the
information becomes available.

34

Year Ending September 30, 

Leon County Research and Development Authority

Required Supplementary Information

Year ended September 30, 2018

Schedule of Contributions - 
Health Insurance Subsidy Program

Attachment F1 
Page 37 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 57 of 186



 

 

Other Reports 

Attachment F1 
Page 38 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 58 of 186



 

35 

Report of Independent Auditors on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and 
on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
 
The Board of Governors 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of Leon 
County Research and Development Authority (the Authority), which comprise the statement of 
net position as of September 30, 2018, and the related statements of revenues, expenses, and 
changes in net position, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated February 28, 2019.   
 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s 
internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent 
or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and 
corrected on a timely basis.  A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough 
to merit attention by those charged with governance.   
 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses.  
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 

Attachment F1 
Page 39 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 59 of 186



 
 
Page Two 
 
 

36 

Compliance and Other Matters 
 
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority’s financial statements are 
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct 
and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an 
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, 
we do not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards.   
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 

 
 
 
Tallahassee, Florida 
February 28, 2019

Attachment F1 
Page 40 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 60 of 186



 

37 

Report of Independent Accountants on Compliance with 
Section 218.415, Florida Statutes, Local Government Investment Policies 

 
The Board of Governors 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 
We have examined the Leon County Research and Development Authority’s (the Authority) 
compliance with local government investment policies provided in Chapter 218.415, Florida 
Statutes, during the year ended September 30, 2018.  Management is responsible for the 
Authority’s compliance with those requirements.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
the Authority’s compliance based on our examination. 
 
Our examination was conducted in accordance with attestation standards established by the 
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants.  Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the investment policies are 
in accordance with the criteria, in all material respects.  An examination involves performing 
procedures to obtain evidence about the investment policies.  The nature, timing, and extent of the 
procedures selected depend on our judgment, including an assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the investment policies, whether due to fraud or error.  We believe that our 
examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.  Our examination does not provide a legal 
determination on the Authority’s compliance with specified requirements. 
 
In our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the aforementioned 
requirements for the year ended September 30, 2018. 
 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Leon County Research and 
Development Authority and the Florida Auditor General and is not intended to be and should not 
be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 
 
 

 
 
 
Tallahassee, Florida 
February 28, 2019 

Attachment F1 
Page 41 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 61 of 186



 

 

Management Letter

Attachment F1 
Page 42 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 62 of 186



 

38 

Management Letter 
 
The Board of Governors 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the Leon County Research and Development 
Authority (the Authority) as of and for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018, and have issued 
our report thereon dated February 28, 2019. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States and Chapter 10.550, Rules of 
the Auditor General. 
 
Other Reporting Requirements  
 
We have issued our Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial Statements Performed 
in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards and Independent Accountant’s Report on an 
examination conducted in accordance with AICPA Professional Standards, AT-C Section 315, 
regarding compliance requirements in accordance with Chapter 10.550, Rules of the Auditor 
General. Disclosures in those reports and schedule, which are dated February 28, 2019, should be 
considered in conjunction with this management letter. 
 
Prior Audit Findings  
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)1., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we determine whether or not 
corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations made in the preceding 
financial audit report. Corrective actions have been taken to address findings and recommendations 
made in the preceding financial audit report 
 
 

Attachment F1 
Page 43 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 63 of 186



 
 
Page Two 
 
 

39 

Financial Condition and Management 
 
Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.a. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply 
appropriate procedures and communicate the results of our determination as to whether or not the 
Authority has met one or more of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes, 
and to identify the specific condition(s) met. In connection with our audit, we determined that the 
Authority did not meet any of the conditions described in Section 218.503(1), Florida Statutes. 
 
Pursuant to Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.c. and 10.556(8), Rules of the Auditor General, we applied 
financial condition assessment procedures for the Authority.  It is management’s responsibility to 
monitor the Authority’s financial condition, and our financial condition assessment was based in 
part on representations made by management and review of financial information provided by 
same. 
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)2., Rules of the Auditor General, requires that we communicate any 
recommendations to improve financial management.  In connection with our audit, we did not 
have any such recommendations. 
 
Annual Financial Report  
 
Sections 10.554(1)(i)5.b. and 10.556(7), Rules of the Auditor General, require us to apply 
appropriate procedures and communicate the results of our determination as to whether the annual 
financial report for the Authority for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017, filed with the 
Florida Department of Financial Services pursuant to Section 218.32(1)(a), Florida Statutes, is in 
agreement with the annual financial audit report for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2018.  In 
connection with our audit, we determined that these two reports were in agreement. 
 
Special District Component Units  
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)5.d., Rules of the Auditor General, requires, if appropriate, that we 
communicate the failure of a special district that is a component unit of a county, municipality, or 
special district, to provide the financial information necessary for proper reporting of the 
component unit within the audited financial statements of the county, municipality, or special 
district in accordance with Section 218.39(3)(b), Florida Statutes.  In connection with our audit, 
we did not note any special district component units that failed to provide the necessary 
information for proper reporting in accordance with Section 218.39(3)(b), Florida Statutes. 
 
 

Attachment F1 
Page 44 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 64 of 186



 
 
Page Three 
 
 

40 

Additional Matters  
 
Section 10.554(1)(i)3., Rules of the Auditor General, requires us to communicate noncompliance 
with provisions of contracts or grant agreements, or abuse, that have occurred, or are likely to have 
occurred, that have an effect on the financial statements that is less than material but warrants the 
attention of those charged with governance.  In connection with our audit, we did not note any 
such findings. 
 

***** 
Purpose of this Letter 
 
Our management letter is intended solely for the information and use of the Legislative Auditing 
Committee, members of the Florida Senate and the Florida House of Representatives, the Florida 
Auditor General, the Board or Governors, the Leon County Board of County Commissioners, and 
applicable management, and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than 
these specified parties. 
 
 

 
 
 
Tallahassee, Florida 
February 28, 2019 

Attachment F1 
Page 45 of 45

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 65 of 186



 

To the Audit Committee 
Leon County Research and Development Authority 
 
We are pleased to present this report related to our audit of the financial statements of Leon County 
Research and Development Authority (the Authority) as of and for the year ended September 30, 
2018. This report summarizes certain matters required by professional standards to be 
communicated to you in your oversight responsibility for the Authority’s financial reporting 
process. 
 
Generally accepted auditing standards (AU-C 260, The Auditor’s Communication with Those 
Charged with Governance) require the auditor to promote effective two-way communication 
between the auditor and those charged with governance.  Consistent with this requirement, the 
following summarizes our responsibilities regarding the financial statement audit as well as 
observations arising from our audit that are significant and relevant to your responsibility to 
oversee the financial reporting process. 
 

Area  Comments 

Our Responsibilities With Regard to 
the Financial Statement Audit 

 Our responsibilities under auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America 
and Government Auditing Standards issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States have been 
described to you in our arrangement letter dated 
August 3, 2017.  Our audit of the financial statements 
does not relieve management or those charged with 
governance of their responsibilities, which are also 
described in that letter. 

Overview of the Planned Scope and 
Timing of the Financial Statement 
Audit 

 We discussed with members of the Audit Committee 
and the Authority’s management various matters 
about which generally accepted auditing standards 
require communication.  These include matters 
concerning two-way communication, our 
independence, the audit planning process, the 
concept of materiality in planning and executing the 
audit, our approach to internal control relevant to the 
audit, and the timing of the audit. 

 
 
 

Attachment F2 
Page 1 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 66 of 186



 
 
Page Two 
 
 

Area  Comments 

Accounting Policies and Practices  Adoption of, or Change in, Accounting Policies 

Management has the ultimate responsibility for the 
appropriateness of the accounting policies used by 
the Authority. The Authority did not adopt any 
significant new accounting policies, nor have there 
been any changes in existing significant accounting 
policies during the current period.  

  Significant or Unusual Transactions 

We did not identify any significant or unusual 
transactions or significant accounting policies in 
controversial or emerging areas for which there is a 
lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. 

Management’s Judgments and 
Accounting Estimates 

 Accounting estimates are an integral part of the 
preparation of financial statements and are based 
upon management’s current judgment. The process 
used by management encompasses their knowledge 
and experience about past and current events and 
certain assumptions about future events.  
Management has informed us that they used all the 
relevant facts available to them at the time to make 
the best judgments about accounting estimates, and 
we considered this information in the scope of our 
audit. Estimates significant to the financial 
statements include: 

 Allowance for uncollectible accounts 

 Pension liabilities 

 The allocation of certain maintenance 
expenses and common area maintenance 
fees.  The Authority has established through 
lease agreements with specific tenants that 
certain maintenance costs incurred by the 
Authority may be allocated and billed to the 
tenants.  In addition, the Authority calculates 
an annual charge to the tenants for common 
area maintenance fees based on actual costs 
incurred during the year. 

Attachment F2 
Page 2 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 67 of 186



 
 
Page Three 
 
 

Area  Comments 

Management’s Judgments and 
Accounting Estimates (continued) 

  Amortization of capitalized fees. 

 Useful lives used to calculate depreciation of 
capital assets. 

The Audit Committee may wish to monitor 
throughout the year the process used to determine 
and record these accounting estimates. 

Audit Adjustments  Audit adjustments proposed by us and recorded by 
the Authority are shown on the attached Exhibit A. 

Uncorrected Misstatements  There were no uncorrected misstatements that 
management determined to be immaterial. 

Disagreements With Management  We encountered no disagreements with management 
over the application of significant accounting 
principles, the basis for management’s judgments on 
any significant matters, the scope of the audit, or 
significant disclosures to be included in the financial 
statements. 

Consultations With Other 
Accountants 

 We are not aware of any consultations management 
had with other accountants about accounting or 
auditing matters.  

Significant Issues Discussed With 
Management 

 No significant issues arising from the audit were 
discussed with or the subject of correspondence with 
management.  

Significant Difficulties Encountered 
in Performing the Audit 

 We did not encounter any significant difficulties in 
dealing with management during the audit. We 
received full cooperation and appreciate the 
assistance provided by the Authority’s financial and 
accounting personnel. 

Attachment F2 
Page 3 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 68 of 186



 
 
Page Four 
 
 

Area  Comments 

Letter(s) Communicating Significant 
Deficiencies and Material 
Weaknesses in Internal Control Over 
Financial Reporting 

 We have separately communicated any significant 
deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over financial reporting identified during our 
audit of the financial statements as required by 
Government Auditing Standards. This 
communication is included in the Other Reports 
section of the financial statements. 

Significant Written Communications 
Between Management and Our Firm 

 See Exhibit B for a copy of the representation letter 
provided to us by the Authority’s management. 

 
This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Audit Committee and management 
of the Authority and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these 
specified parties.  It will be our pleasure to respond to any questions you have regarding this letter.  
We appreciate the opportunity to continue to be of service to Leon County Research and 
Development Authority. 
 
 

 
 
 
Tallahassee, Florida  
February 28, 2019 

Attachment F2 
Page 4 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 69 of 186



Leon County Research and Development Authority 0204
Year End: September 30, 2018 Admin Prepared by Reviewed by

Trial balance LJ 1/29/2019

Date:  10/1/2017  To  9/30/2018 Reviewed by Partner review QC Review

Account No:  AJE #1  To  AJE #2 AJH 2/17/2019

Number Date Name Account No Reference Debit Credit Net Income (Loss) Amount Chg Recurrence

Net Income (Loss) Before Adjustments (176,037.00 )

AJE #1 9/30/2018 Accumulated Depreciation 1590-0000 4001.  1 238.00

AJE #1 9/30/2018 Depreciation Expense 8210-0000 4001.  1 238.00

to adjust depreciation

238.00 238.00 (176,275.00 ) (238.00 )

AJE #2 9/30/2018 Invested in Capital Assets-Net of Debt 2730-0000 7501.  1 237.00

AJE #2 9/30/2018 Unrestricted 2750-0000 7501.  1 237.00

to adjust for AJE#1 to agree

equity bal to invested in capital assets.

237.00 237.00 (176,275.00 ) 0.00

475.00 475.00 (176,275.00 ) (238.00 )

2/18/2019

9:59 AM Page 1

Attachment F2 
Page 5 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 70 of 186

SPaulson
Rectangle



 
 

 

 

 
1736 W Paul Dirac Drive • Tallahassee, FL • 32310 • 850-575-0343 • Innovation-Park.com 

 

February 28, 2019 
 
 
 
Thomas Howell Ferguson P.A. 
2615 Centennial Boulevard, Suite 200 
Tallahassee, Florida 32308 
 
This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the basic financial statements 
of Leon County Research and Development Authority (the Authority) as of and for the years ended 
September 30, 2018 and 2017 for the purpose of expressing an opinion on whether the financial 
statements are presented fairly, in all material respects in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP).  
 
We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, as of the date of this letter:  

Financial Statements 

1. We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit arrangement letter 
dated August 3, 2017, for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
referred to above in accordance with U.S. GAAP.  

2. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of 
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

3. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation, and maintenance of 
internal control to prevent and detect fraud. 

4. Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including those measured 
at fair value, are reasonable and reflect our judgment based on our knowledge and experience 
about past and current events, and our assumptions about conditions we expect to exist and 
courses of action we expect to take.  

5. Related-party transactions, including those with Leon County Florida, the primary government 
having accountability for the Authority, other organizations for which the nature and 
significance of their relationship with the Authority are such that exclusion would cause the 
reporting entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete, and jointly governed 
organizations in which the Authority participates, and sale and purchase transactions, long-
term loans, leasing arrangements and guarantees, have been recorded in accordance with the 
economic substance of the transaction and appropriately accounted for and disclosed in 
accordance with the requirements of U.S. GAAP. 

6. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements, for which U.S. GAAP requires 
adjustment or disclosure, have been adjusted or disclosed. 

7. The effects of all known actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and 
disclosed in accordance with U.S. GAAP. 

8. The following have been properly recorded and/or disclosed in the financial statements:  

Attachment F2 
Page 6 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 71 of 186



 
 

 
1736 W. PAUL DIRAC DRIVE • TALLAHASSEE, FL • 32310 • 850-575-0343 • WWW.LCRDA.ORG 

 

a. Guarantees, whether written or oral, under which the Authority is contingently liable. 

b. Agreements to repurchase assets previously sold. 

c. Security agreements in effect under the Uniform Commercial Code. 

d. Amounts of contractual obligations for construction and purchase of real property or 
equipment not included in the liabilities or encumbrances recorded on the books.  

e. All other liens or encumbrances on assets or revenues or any assets or revenues which were 
pledged as collateral for any liability or which were subordinated in any way. 

f. All liabilities that are subordinated to any other actual or possible liabilities of the 
Authority. 

g. All leases and material amounts of rental obligations under long-term leases. 

h. Authorized but unissued bonds and/or notes. 

i. Debt issue repurchase options or agreements, or sinking fund debt repurchase ordinance 
requirements. 

j. Debt issue provisions. 

k. Risk financing activities. 

l. The fair value of investments. 

m. Derivative financial instruments. 

n. Deposits and investment securities categories of risk. 

o. Arrangements with financial institutions involving compensating balances or other 
arrangements involving restrictions on cash balances, line of credit, or similar 
arrangements have been properly disclosed. 

p. Impairment of capital assets.   

q. Net positions and fund balance classifications. 

r. All significant estimates and material concentrations known to management that are 
required to be disclosed. Significant estimates are estimates at the balance sheet date that 
could change materially within the next year. Concentrations refer to volumes of business, 
revenues, available sources of supply, or markets for which events could occur that would 
significantly disrupt normal finances within the next year. 

9. There are no unasserted claims or assessments that our lawyer has advised us are probable of 
assertion and must be disclosed in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting 
Standards No.5 and/or GASB Statement No.10. 

10. We have no direct or indirect legal or moral obligation for any debt of any organization, public 
or private that is not disclosed in the financial statements. 

11. We have complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material effect 
on the financial statements in the event of noncompliance. In connection therewith, we 

Attachment F2 
Page 7 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 72 of 186



 
 

 
1736 W. PAUL DIRAC DRIVE • TALLAHASSEE, FL • 32310 • 850-575-0343 • WWW.LCRDA.ORG 

 

specifically represent that we are responsible for determining that we are not subject to the 
requirements of the Single Audit Act, because we have not received, expended, or otherwise 
been the beneficiary of the required amount of federal awards during the period of this audit.  

12. We have no knowledge of any uncorrected misstatements in the financial statements.   

 
Information Provided 

13. We have provided you with: 

a. Access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements such as records, documentation, and other matters; 

b. Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit; 

c. Unrestricted access to persons within the Authority from whom you determined it 
necessary to obtain audit evidence; and 

d. Minutes of the meetings of the governing board and committees, or summaries of actions 
of recent meetings for which minutes have not yet been prepared. 

14. All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial 
statements. 

15. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of risk that the financial statements 
may be materially misstated as a result of fraud. 

16. We have no knowledge of allegations of fraud or suspected fraud, affecting the Authority’s 
financial statements involving: 

a. Management. 

b. Employees who have significant roles in the internal control. 

c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

17. We have no knowledge of any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud affecting the Authority’s 
financial statements received in communications from employees, former employees, analysts, 
regulators, short sellers, or others. 

18. We have no knowledge of noncompliance or suspected noncompliance with laws and 
regulations whose effects were considered when preparing financial statements. 

19. We are not aware of any pending or threatened litigation and claims whose effects should be 
considered when preparing the financial statements, and we have not consulted legal counsel 
concerning litigation or claims, other than the slip and fall accident that occurred at one of our 
buildings.  There has been no adverse development on the claim as of the date of your report 
and we believe it will be fully covered by our insurance policy. 

20. We have disclosed to you the identity of the Authority’s related parties and all the related-party 
relationships and transactions of which we are aware. 

Attachment F2 
Page 8 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 73 of 186



 
 

 
1736 W. PAUL DIRAC DRIVE • TALLAHASSEE, FL • 32310 • 850-575-0343 • WWW.LCRDA.ORG 

 

21. We are aware of no significant deficiencies, including material weaknesses, in the design or 
operation of internal controls that could adversely affect the Authority’s ability to record, 
process, summarize, and report financial data. 

22. We are aware of no communications from regulatory agencies concerning noncompliance 
with, or deficiencies in, financial reporting practices. 

23. We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification 
of assets. In that regard:  

a. The Authority has no significant amounts of idle property and equipment or property or 
equipment. 

b. The Authority has no plans or intentions to discontinue the operations of any activities or 
programs or to discontinue any significant operations. 

24. We are responsible for making the accounting estimates included in the financial statements.  
Those estimates reflect our judgment based on our knowledge and experience about past and 
current events and our assumptions about conditions we expect to exist and courses of action 
we expect to take. In that regard, adequate provisions have been made:  

a. To reduce receivables to their estimated net collectable amounts. 

b. To reduce investments, intangibles, and other assets which have permanently declined in 
value to their realizable values. 

d. For risk retention, including uninsured losses or loss retentions (deductibles) attributable 
to events occurring through September 30, 2018 and/or for expected retroactive insurance 
premium adjustments applicable to periods through September 30, 2018. 

e. For pension obligations, post-retirement benefits other than pensions, and deferred 
compensation agreements attributable to employee services rendered through September 
30, 2018. 

25. There are no:  

a. Material transactions that have not been properly recorded in the accounting records 
underlying the financial statements. 

b. Violations or possible violations of laws or regulations whose effects should be considered 
for disclosure in the financial statements or as a basis for recording a loss contingency. In 
that regard, we specifically represent that we have not been designated as, or alleged to be, 
a "potentially responsible party" by the Environmental Protection Agency in connection 
with any environmental contamination. 

c. Other material liabilities or gain or loss contingencies that are required to be accrued or 
disclosed.  

26. The Authority has satisfactory title to all owned assets. 
 

27. Net positions invested in capital assets, net of related debt; restricted; and unrestricted and fund 
balances are properly classified and, when applicable, approved. 

Attachment F2 
Page 9 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 74 of 186



 
 

 
1736 W. PAUL DIRAC DRIVE • TALLAHASSEE, FL • 32310 • 850-575-0343 • WWW.LCRDA.ORG 

 

28. Expenses or expenditures have been appropriately classified in or allocated to functions and 
programs in the statement of activities, and allocations have been made on a reasonable basis. 

29. Revenues are appropriately classified in the statements of activities within program revenues 
and general revenues and contributions to term or permanent endowments, or contributions to 
permanent fund principal. 

30. Capital assets, including infrastructure assets, are properly capitalized, reported, and 
depreciated.  

31. We agree with the findings of specialists in evaluating the pension liability for the Florida 
Retirement System and Health Insurance Subsidy  Program and have adequately considered 
the qualifications of the specialists in determining the amounts and disclosures used in the 
financial statements and underlying accounting records. We did not give or cause any 
instructions to be given to specialists with respect to the values or amounts derived in an 
attempt to bias their work, and we are not otherwise aware of any matters that have had an 
impact on the independence or objectivity of the specialists. 

32. During the course of your audit, you may have accumulated records containing data that should 
be reflected in our books and records. All such data have been so reflected. Accordingly, copies 
of such records in your possession are no longer needed by us. 

33. With respect to supplementary information presented in relation to the financial statements as 
a whole:  

a. We acknowledge our responsibility for the presentation of such information. 

b. We believe such information, including its form and content, is fairly presented in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

c. The methods of measurement or presentation have not changed from those used in the prior 
period. 

d. When supplementary information is not presented with the audited financial statements, 
we will make the audited financial statements readily available to the intended users of the 
supplementary information no later than the date of issuance of the supplementary 
information and the auditor’s report thereon. 

34. With respect to Management’s Discussion and Analysis and the pension liability and 
contribution schedules presented as required by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board to supplement the basic financial statements:  

a. We acknowledge our responsibility for the presentation of such required supplementary 
information. 

b. We believe such required supplementary information is measured and presented in 
accordance with guidelines prescribed by accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. 

c. The methods of measurement or presentation have not changed from those used in the prior 
period. 

Attachment F2 
Page 10 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 75 of 186



 
 

 
1736 W. PAUL DIRAC DRIVE • TALLAHASSEE, FL • 32310 • 850-575-0343 • WWW.LCRDA.ORG 

 

Compliance Considerations 
 
In connection with your audit conducted in accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we 
confirm that management:  

35. Is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the applicable financial reporting framework. 

36. Is responsible for compliance with the laws, regulations, and provisions of contracts and grant 
agreements applicable to the auditee. 

37. Has identified and disclosed to the auditor all instances that have occurred, or are likely to have 
occurred, of fraud and noncompliance with provisions of laws and regulations that have a 
material effect on the financial statements or other financial data significant to the audit 
objectives, and any other instances that warrant the attention of those charged with governance. 

38. Has identified and disclosed to the auditor all instances that have occurred, or are likely to have 
occurred, of noncompliance with provisions of contracts and grant agreements that have a 
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. 

39. Has identified and disclosed to the auditor all instances that have occurred, or are likely to have 
occurred, of abuse that could be quantitatively or qualitatively material to the financial 
statements. 

40. Is responsible for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to 
the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

41. Acknowledges its responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 
controls to prevent and detect fraud. 

42. Has taken timely and appropriate steps to remedy fraud; noncompliance with provisions of 
laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements; or abuse that the auditor reports. 

43. Has a process to track the status of audit findings and recommendations. 

44. Has identified for the auditor previous audits, attestation engagements and other studies related 
to the audit objectives and whether related recommendations have been implemented. 

45. Has provided views on the auditor’s reported findings, conclusions and recommendations, as 
well as management’s planned corrective actions, for the report. 

46. Acknowledges its responsibilities as it relates to non-audit services performed by the auditor, 
including a statement that it assumes all management responsibilities; that it oversees the 
services by designating an individual, preferably within senior management, who possesses 
suitable skill, knowledge or experience; that it evaluates the adequacy and results of the 
services performed; and that it accepts responsibility for the results of the services. 

  

Attachment F2 
Page 11 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 76 of 186



Attachment F2 
Page 12 of 12

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 77 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 1 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 78 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 2 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 79 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 3 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 80 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 4 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 81 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 5 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 82 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 6 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 83 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 7 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 84 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 8 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 85 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 9 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 86 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 10 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 87 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 11 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 88 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 12 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 89 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 13 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 90 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 14 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 91 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 15 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 92 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 16 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 93 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 17 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 94 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 18 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 95 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 19 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 96 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 20 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 97 of 186



Attachment G1 
Page 21 of 21

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 98 of 186



Attachment G2 
Page 1 of 7

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 99 of 186



Attachment G2 
Page 2 of 7

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 100 of 186



Attachment G2 
Page 3 of 7

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 101 of 186



Attachment G2 
Page 4 of 7

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 102 of 186



Attachment G2 
Page 5 of 7

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 103 of 186



Attachment G2 
Page 6 of 7

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 104 of 186



Attachment G2 
Page 7 of 7

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 105 of 186



1 
4815-6076-6859 
144809/00012

LOAN AGREEMENT 

This LOAN AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is entered into as of April 4, 2019 by and 
between Leon County Research and Development Authority (“LCRDA”), a public body 
governed by Chapter 159, Florida Statutes, whose address is 1736 W. Paul Dirac Drive, 
Tallahassee, Florida 32310 (“Lender”), and Innovation Park TLH, Inc., a Florida not for profit 
corporation, whose address is 1736 W. Paul Dirac Drive, Tallahassee, Florida 32310 
(“Borrower”). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, Lender and Borrower have a business relationship and Lender has agreed to 
make loans (individually an “Advance” and collectively, the “Loan”) to Borrower; and 

WHEREAS, Lender and Borrower have entered into this Agreement to confirm the terms 
upon which the Loan is provided by Lender to Borrower. 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Parties, intending to be legally bound, agree as follows: 

1. Interpretation   In this Agreement, unless the context otherwise requires: (a) headings and
underlinings are for convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Agreement; (b)
reference to the singular includes a reference to the plural and vice versa, and reference to any
gender includes a reference to all other genders; (c) reference to an individual shall include his
legal representative, successor, legal heir, executor and administrator; (d) reference to statutory
provisions shall be construed as meaning and including references also to any amendment or re-
enactment (whether before or after the date of this Agreement) for the time being in force and to
all statutory instruments or orders made pursuant to statutory provisions; (e) references to any
Section shall be deemed to be a reference to such clause of or to this Agreement; (f) reference to
any document (including this Agreement) includes references to that document as amended,
consolidated, supplemented, novated or replaced from time to time; (g) words such as “include”,
“including”, or words of similar import shall be construed without limitation; and (h) references to
“dollars” or “$” or “USD” are references to United States dollars.

2. Conditions Precedent

Lender’s obligation to make the Loan available to Borrower is subject to fulfillment of the
following conditions precedent:  (a) Lender shall have received such other documents supplemental 
and/or ancillary to this Agreement as Lender may request; and (b) no Event of Default (as 
hereinafter defined), or event which with notice or lapse of time or both would constitute an Event 
of Default, has occurred and is continuing. 

3. The Loan

Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Lender agrees, at its discretion, to
make available to Borrower the Loan, through one or more Advances, in order to fund Borrower’s 
working capital requirements.  Advances may additionally be made by Lender paying expenses 
of Borrower and providing a written invoice of the expense to the Borrower within thirty (30) 
days of paying the expense. Lender shall, at its discretion, upon receipt of a written request from 
Borrower specifying the date and amount of the Advance, and provided that no Event of Default 
is continuing, disburse the Advance.  Borrower shall use the Advances solely for the purposes of 
funding working capital.  The Loan shall be a revolving facility, and any borrowing which is 
repaid by Borrower may be made available for re-advance by Lender under this Agreement, in 
the discretion of Lender. The maximum amount of the Loan advanced and not repaid at any time 
shall not exceed $10,000.00 (“Maximum Loan Amount”). 

Attachment H 
Page 1 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 106 of 186



 

2 
4815-6076-6859 
144809/00012 

4. Interest and Repayment of the Loan 

 4.1 Interest shall not accrue, provided, however, that interest on the outstanding principal 
at the rate of 10% per annum (the “Interest Rate”) shall accrue beginning immediately upon an 
Event of Default, as determined by Lender in its sole and absolute discretion.  Lender may in its 
sole discretion demand immediate repayment of the Loan and any other outstanding amount under 
this Agreement immediately upon written notice to Borrower.  All payments to be made by 
Borrower hereunder shall be paid in full (without setoff or deduction of any kind) in Dollars using 
such payment instructions as Lender may designate to Borrower from time to time.  Any bank 
charges by whatever name incurred with respect to such payments shall be borne by Borrower.  
Lender shall maintain accurate records of all Advances and all repayments made by Borrower. 
Borrower agrees that a statement of the chief financial officer of Lender as to the amount from 
time to time owed by Borrower pursuant to this Agreement shall be binding for all purposes in 
the absence of manifest error in calculation.  

 4.2 Lender shall be entitled to periodically review the financial condition of Borrower and 
determine Borrower’s ability to fund its working capital needs. Lender may in its sole and absolute 
discretion demand repayment of all or portions of the amount owed.   

5. Borrower Representations, Warranties and Covenants 

 5.1 Borrower hereby represents and warrants to Lender as follows, which will be true 
and accurate on the date of this Agreement and throughout the continuance of this Agreement 
with reference to the facts and circumstances subsisting from time to time:  (a) Borrower is an 
entity established and existing under the laws of its jurisdiction of organization as specified above 
and has full legal right, power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to perform its 
obligations hereunder and thereunder; (b) this Agreement is (and each other document or 
agreement referred to herein to be made and performed by Borrower pursuant to the terms of this 
Agreement when executed and delivered will be) the legal, valid and binding obligations of 
Borrower enforceable against it in all respects in accordance with its terms and conditions; (c) 
there has not occurred, and the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement or any 
other agreement or instrument contemplated herein will not cause the occurrence, of any Event of 
Default or event which, with the giving of notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute an 
event of default under any agreement to which Borrower is a party or by which its property is 
bound; and (d) there are no actions, suits, or proceedings pending, or to Borrower’s best 
knowledge, threatened, against or affecting it in any court or administrative body or arbitral tribunal 
that could reasonably be expected to materially adversely affect its ability to meet and carry out its 
obligations under this Agreement or that purports to affect the legality, validity, or enforceability 
of this Agreement. 

 5.2 Borrower shall comply with all laws and regulations applicable to Borrower that 
relate to, or could reasonably be expected to materially affect, the performance of its obligations 
under this Agreement. 

6. Events of Default; Remedies 

 6.1 Each of the following shall constitute an “Event of Default”:  (a) failure by Borrower 
to perform any of its obligations under, or any event constituting a default under, this Agreement, 
or the taking of any action by Borrower that in Lender’s reasonable opinion materially 
jeopardizes, or infringes upon Lender’s rights under this Agreement; (b) any of the representations 
or warranties contained herein or in any other agreement between Borrower and Lender or in any 
certificate required to be provided hereunder or thereunder shall be or be shown to be untrue, 
inaccurate or misleading in any material manner; (c) Borrower becomes bankrupt or insolvent (as 
the case may be) or admits in writing its inability to pay debts as they mature; (d) Borrower applies 
for, consents to, or acquiesces in the appointment of a receiver or other person requested by a 
creditor to manage any of its property or business, or in the absence of any such application, 
consent, or acquiescence, a receiver or other person is appointed to manage any of its property or 

Attachment H 
Page 2 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 107 of 186



 

3 
4815-6076-6859 
144809/00012 

business; or (e) Borrower otherwise commits an act of bankruptcy, or any bankruptcy, 
reorganization, debt arrangement, or other proceeding under any bankruptcy or insolvency law, or 
any dissolution or liquidation proceeding is instituted by or against it and, if instituted, is consented 
to or acquiesced in by it or remains undismissed for more than thirty (30) days. 

 6.2 If an Event of Default is continuing, Lender shall be entitled, by notice in writing 
to Borrower, to declare that the Loan is immediately due and payable without further written 
demand or notice of any kind (provided, however, that, with respect to any Event of Default 
pursuant to clauses (c), (d) or (e) of Section 6.1, the Loan is hereby deemed to be automatically 
due and payable), and Lender shall be entitled to take whatever action it deems necessary pursuant 
to this Agreement or any other security or other Loan  documents relating to the Loan, or in 
accordance with applicable laws or at equity, to secure the repayment of the Loan (all of which 
remedies may be pursued simultaneously or in any order, without being deemed an election to 
pursue a particular remedy instead of any other). 

 6.3 Without prejudice to any of its other obligations hereunder, Borrower hereby 
indemnifies and agrees to defend Lender against any loss or expenses, including legal expenses, 
which Lender may incur or sustain as a consequence of any Event of Default, including (but not 
limited to) any interest or fees paid or payable on account of, or in respect of, any funds borrowed 
or deposits from third parties in order to carry the amount outstanding under the Loan, or in 
liquidating or redeployment. 

7. Miscellaneous 

 7.1 This Agreement and all transactions executed hereunder shall be governed and 
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida, without regard to any conflicts of 
laws principles which would require the application of any law other than that of the State of 
Florida. 

 7.2 All notices and other communications required or permitted to be transmitted to 
any Party pursuant to the provisions hereof shall be given in writing delivered by hand or by 
prepaid courier (in each case against signature of receipt) addressed to the Parties at their 
respective addresses first set forth above (or to such other address as a Party may from time to 
time notify in writing to the other). 

 7.3 It is the intention of the parties hereto to comply with all applicable usury laws.  
Accordingly, it is agreed that, notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary in this Agreement, 
in no event shall this Agreement require the payment or permit the collection of interest in excess 
of the maximum amount permitted by such laws.  If any such excess interest is contracted for, 
charged or received under this Agreement, or in the event the maturity of the indebtedness 
evidenced hereby is accelerated in whole or in part, or in the event that all or part of the principal 
or interest under this Agreement shall be prepaid, so that under any of such circumstances, the 
amount of interest contracted for, charged or received under this Agreement shall exceed the 
maximum amount of interest permitted by applicable usury laws, then in any such event:  (a) the 
provisions of this Section 8.3 shall govern or control; (b) neither Borrower nor any other person 
or entity now or hereafter liable for payments under this Agreement shall be obligated to pay the 
amount of such interest to the extent that it is in excess of the maximum amount of interest 
permitted by applicable usury laws; (c) any such excess which may have been collected shall be 
applied either (at Lender’s option) as a credit against the then unpaid principal amount hereof or 
refunded to Borrower; and (d) the effective rate of interest under this Agreement shall be 
automatically reduced to the maximum lawful rate allowed under the applicable usury jurisdiction 
thereof. 

 7.4 Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights and obligations hereunder shall be 
assigned by Borrower without the prior written consent of Lender.  Borrower hereby consents 
to the assignment by Lender of any of Lender’s rights or obligations hereunder to any other 
party or parties. 

Attachment H 
Page 3 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 108 of 186



 

4 
4815-6076-6859 
144809/00012 

 7.5 If any provision of this Agreement shall be determined to be illegal and/or 
unenforceable or if any provision of this Agreement shall become illegal and/or unenforceable at 
any time hereafter, then all other provisions of this Agreement shall be severable and shall remain 
valid, binding and enforceable in accordance with their terms, and the Parties agree that a provision 
which shall be determined to be or which shall become illegal or unenforceable, shall be substituted 
by another legal provision which shall maintain the economic purposes and the intentions of the 
Parties. 

 7.6  Each Party agrees from time to time to perform any further act and execute and 
deliver any further documents and instruments and do or refrain from doing all such further acts 
and things as may from time to time reasonably be requested by the other Parties to carry out 
effectively or better evidence or perfect the intent of this Agreement. 

 7.7 Any change and/or amendment of this Agreement shall be in writing and signed by 
all Parties hereto.  No waiver or variation by either Party of any of the provisions of this 
Agreement shall be duly made or deemed to have been duly made unless in writing and signed by 
all Parties hereto effecting such waiver or variation.  The failure by either Party to insist on any 
occasion upon the performance of the terms, conditions, and provisions of this Agreement, shall 
not thereby act as a waiver of such breach or acceptance of any variation. 

 7.8 This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and all 
counterparts taken together will be deemed to constitute one and the same Agreement.  This 
Agreement may be delivered by facsimile, email or other form of electronic transmission with the 
same effect as if an originally executed version of this Agreement was physically delivered to 
each of the Parties. 

 7.9 EACH OF BORROWER AND LENDER HEREBY WAIVE THEIR RIGHT TO 
A JURY TRIAL WITH RESPECT TO ANY ACTION OR CLAIM ARISING OUT OF ANY 
DISPUTE IN CONNECTION WITH THIS AGREEMENT, ANY RIGHTS OR OBLIGATIONS 
HEREUNDER, OR THE PERFORMANCE OF ANY SUCH RIGHTS OR OBLIGATIONS, 
AND EACH PARTY HEREBY AGREES AND CONSENTS THAT ANY SUCH ACTION OR 
CLAIM SHALL BE DECIDED BY COURT TRIAL WITHOUT A JURY, AND THAT ANY 
PARTY TO THIS AGREEMENT MAY FILE A COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT WITH ANY 
COURT AS EVIDENCE OF SUCH WAIVER. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Borrower and Lender have caused this Agreement to be 
executed by their respective officers/directors, duly authorized so to do, all as of the day and year 
first above written. 

 
 
Leon County Research  
and Development Authority 

 

 

By:______________________________ 
      David B. Ramsay, Chair 

 
 

Innovation Park TLH, Inc. 

 

 

 

By:______________________________ 
      David B. Ramsay, President 

 

Attachment H 
Page 4 of 4

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 109 of 186



RFP 19‐02 Collins Building Repairs & Renovation 

Proposals Review and Recommendation 

03/26/19 

Background 

Staff issued RFP 19‐02 on February 8, 2019 and advertised it in the Tallahassee Democrat on February 8 and 

February 11, 2019.  A mandatory pre‐bid meeting was held on February 18, 2019.  Three firms attended and 

walked through the job site and asked questions.  Additional questions were accepted via email until February 

25, 2019. All questions and answers from the meeting and those received via email were documented, posted 

on the RFP’s websites page and emailed to attendees.  Two proposals were received by the March 4, 2019 

deadline.  Oliver Sperry Renovation & Construction, Inc. (OS) was not present at the opening. WestScott 

Construction, Inc.  (WS) was in attendance for the opening and the proposed prices were announced and 

emailed to proposers.  

Given the limited scope of work for the project, no architectural design specifications were provided with the 

RFP.  A floor plan with scope of work and a material specification sheet were provided based on the desired 

finished product with the expectation that the Proposer would have sufficient information from the 

specifications and pre‐bid meeting to apply their professional knowledge to provide a reasonable proposal. Staff 

responded to the question “How should the response to the RFP address specifications which may conflict with, 

or fail to address issues with, building code?” with the answer “LCRDA desires for all work to comply with 

building codes. Respondents shall propose accordingly and identify any deviations from specifications it 

reasonably expects to be required. Where possible, identify added cost of compliance in order to differentiate 

from proposers who don’t identify any deviations.” 

Reviewers’ Evaluation  

The Executive Director and the Talcor Property Manager (the Reviewers) reviewed the proposals. 

A. Completeness of Proposal and Approach to Required Services

The Reviewers noted the significant difference in the proposal prices (see section “D”) as well as the more 

detailed proposed scope in the OS proposal.  OS’ proposed scope noted that it included consultation with its 

proposed architect.  Reviewers believe OS’ proposed scope demonstrated a better understanding of the project 

including ADA and permitting requirements which OS and its architect determined would be needed.  OS 

provided its price proposal in an AIA standard cost breakdown form in addition to the RFP requested format.  OS 

also provided a detailed GANTT chart schedule identifying each step of the construction process. OS provided a 

detailed approach to required services including steps in the process, roles and responsibilities of key members 

of the team, and identity of the architect to be used.  OS addressed important issues like quality control, safety, 

communications, jobsite cleanliness, and relationships with existing building occupants.  

WS’ proposed scope and approach mimicked the scope of work supplied with the RFP but did not address any 

other issues.  They provided a narrative schedule with approximate times to complete by week.  

B. Qualifications of Proposer and personnel selected to perform the services

Both firms provided the names and years of experience for principal members of their teams.  OS provided a 

narrative for each member explaining the qualifications of each team member. Based on this limited 

information, both firms appear qualified to perform the required services.  

Attachment I1 
Page 1 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 110 of 186



 
However, during the pre‐bid meeting reviewers observed, based on questions and comments, that OS 

demonstrated an extensive knowledge of potential code and ADA compliance concerns, in addition to the 

prudence of consulting an architect in proposal preparation. This was confirmed in their expanded and more 

detailed proposed scope of work. While a fixed price contract is contemplated, without an architectural design 

specification, there are items which could arise outside the contracted scope which would result in a higher final 

cost than anticipated.  Given this exposure, the professional knowledge of the contractor is a critical risk factor 

to consider in evaluating the proposals. Reviewers agree that OS demonstrated the professional knowledge to 

mitigate the risk of substantially exceeding their proposed price due to unforeseen issues. 

C. Past Performance on contracts for similar services 

Both firms provided a list of projects for similar contracts including references for these projects.    Reference 

checks were conducted and did not identify any past performance issues on contracts for similar services.  

D. Price 

Initially, WS proposed $93,036 and OS proposed $150,867.  Given the differences in scope of work between 

proposers as noted in section “A”, and in order to provide a better price comparison, the Reviewers provided 

WS with a revised scope based on the OS proposal, and a blank AIA standard cost breakdown form that did not 

include the OS cost information. WS completed a revised cost breakdown (price proposal) which was 

$139,692.14, or 50% higher than its original proposal.  As requested, based on the pre‐bid meeting discussion, 

both proposals included an option to replace the lay‐in ceiling insulation above the new ceiling tiles. WS 

proposed $3,894 and OS proposed $6,478 for this additions.  The Reviewers recommend replacing the insulation 

due to its age and condition caused by periodic leaks in roofing and/or air conditioning unit condensation.  Total 

final proposals are: WS $143,586.14, and OS $157,345.00, or a difference of $13,758.86.   

E. Schedule to Complete Required Services 

WS estimated time necessary to perform design work and receive permits as 2‐4 weeks. They indicated no other 

work to be completed prior to receipt of permits. WS estimated 8 weeks to complete construction following 

receipt of permits.  Total estimated time to complete 10‐12 weeks plus time for City to approve permits. 

OS provided a detailed GANTT chart which detailed time to complete each step including steps prior to receipt 

of permits. These steps included design work and procurement prior to permitting, meeting with owner, etc. OS 

total estimated time to get to through permitting 10 weeks, and approximately 8 weeks to complete 

construction. 

F. Local Preference in Purchasing and contracting 

Both firms are local firms with no difference in local preferences.  

Recommendation 

The Reviewers believe both firms are qualified to perform the required services.  However, OS demonstrated a 

more professional approach to its proposal and inspires greater confidence in its ability to deliver the required 

services at the proposed price and on schedule.  The Reviewers recommend that the Contract for RFP 19‐02 be 

awarded to Oliver Sperry Renovation & Construction, Inc. including the replacement of ceiling insulation in the 

scope of work at a total cost of $157,345.  

Attachment I1 
Page 2 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 111 of 186



1

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

This Professional Services Agreement (this “Agreement”) is entered into this 5th day of 
April, 2019 (the “Effective Date”) by and between the Leon County Research and 
Development Authority, a public Authority created pursuant to Chapter 159, Part V, Florida 
Statutes, having its principal place of business in Tallahassee, Florida (the “LCRDA”), and 
Oliver Sperry Renovation and Construction, Inc., a State of Florida corporation having its 
principal place of business in Tallahassee, Florida ( the “Contractor”). 

WHEREAS, the LCRDA issued RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation on March 
4, 2019, and;  

WHEREAS, the LCRDA wishes to allow for the Contractor to provide Required Services 
defined in the RFP independent of the LCRDA, and the Contractor desires to provide such 
services; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises hereinafter set forth, and for other 
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, 
the LCRDA and the Contractor hereby agree as follows: 

1. SERVICES.  The LCRDA hereby allows the Contractor to provide the required services
described in Exhibit “A” attached hereto and made a part hereof (the “Required Services”), upon
the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement.

2. TIME.  The Required Services to be performed under this RFP shall be commenced upon
execution of an agreement and within fifteen (15) days of the Notice to Proceed.  All work to be
performed shall be completed within one-hundred forty (140) consecutive calendar days of the
Notice to Proceed. If the Required Services are not completed within the time set forth above, or
within such extra time as may be granted by LCRDA, Contractor shall be deemed to be in
default. For each day Contractor is in default, Contractor or its Surety shall pay to LCRDA, not
as a penalty, but as liquidated damages, the amount of $100.00. Permitting the Contractor to
continue and finish the work or any part of it after the expiration of the contract time allowed,
including extensions, if any, shall in no way act as a waiver by the LCRDA of the liquidated
damages due under the contract.

3. COMPENSATION.    The amount of compensation payable by the LCRDA to
Contractor shall be based on the rates and schedules described in Exhibit “B” attached hereto and
made a part hereof.  Unless otherwise specifically provided in Exhibit “B”, payment shall be
made within thirty (30) days after receipt of Contractor’s invoice, which shall be accompanied
by sufficient supporting documentation and contain sufficient detail to allow a proper audit of
expenditures should the LCRDA require one to be performed.

4. COMPLIANCE WITH FEDERAL, STATE AND LOCAL LAWS.  Contractor shall, in
its performance of this Agreement, comply fully with all federal, state, county and other
municipal laws and regulations, as they may be amended from time to time.

Attachment I2 
Page 1 of 16

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 112 of 186



 

 2

5. INSURANCE.    Contractor shall, at all times during the term hereof, maintain the 
insurance coverages as set forth in Exhibit “C” attached hereto and made a part hereof.   

 
6. PERMITS. The Contractor shall pay for all necessary permits as required by law. 
 
7. INDEMNIFICATION.  Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the 
LCRDA, its partners, officers, directors, shareholders, employees and agents (collectively 
referred to as “Indemnities”) and each of them from and against all loss, costs, penalties, fines, 
damages, claims, expenses (including reasonable attorney’s fees) or liabilities (collectively 
referred to as “Liabilities”) by reason of any injury to or death of any person or damage to or 
destruction or loss of any property arising out of, resulting from or in connection with (i) the 
performance or non-performance of the Required Services contemplated by this Agreement 
which is or is alleged to be directly caused, in whole or in part, by any act, omission, default or 
negligence (whether active or passive) of Contractor or its employees, agents or subcontractors 
(collectively referred to as “Contractor”) or (ii) the failure of the Contractor to comply with any 
of the paragraphs herein or the failure of the Contractor to conform to statutes, ordinances or 
other regulations or requirements of any governmental authority, federal, state or local, in 
connection with the performance of this Agreement.  Contractor expressly agrees to indemnify 
and hold harmless the Indemnities, or any of them, from and against all liabilities which may be 
asserted by an employee or former employee of Contractor, or any of its subcontractors, as 
provided above, for which the Contractor’s liability to such employee or former employee would 
otherwise be limited to payments under state Workers’ Compensation or similar laws.  The 
indemnity set forth herein shall be in addition to those indemnities otherwise provided by law. 
 
8. AUDITS, RECORDS, AND RECORDS RETENTION.  Contractor shall agree as follows: 
 

a. To establish and maintain books, records, and documents (including electronic storage 
media) in accordance with generally accepted accounting procedures and practices, 
which sufficiently and properly reflect all revenues and expenditures of funds provided 
under this contract. 

b. To retain all client records, financial records, supporting documents, statistical records, 
and any other documents (including electronic storage media) pertinent to this contract 
for a period of five (5) years after termination of the contract, or if an audit has been 
initiated and audit findings have not been resolved at the end of five (5) years, the records 
shall be retained until resolution of the audit findings or any litigation which may be 
based on the terms of this contract. 

c. Upon completion or termination of the contract and at the request of the LCRDA, the 
Contractor will cooperate with the LCRDA to facilitate the duplication and transfer of 
any said records or documents during the required retention period as specified 
hereinabove. 

d. To assure that these records shall be subject at all reasonable time to inspection, review, 
or audit by Federal, state, or other personnel duly authorized by the LCRDA.   

e. Persons duly authorized by the LCRDA and Federal auditors, pursuant to 45 CFR Part 
92.36(I)(10), shall have full access to and right to examine any of provider’s contract and 
related records and documents, regardless of the form in which kept, at all reasonable 
times for as long as records are retained. 

Attachment I2 
Page 2 of 16

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 113 of 186



 

 3

f. To include the aforementioned audit and record keeping requirements in all approved 
subcontracts and assignments. 

g. IF THE CONTRACTOR HAS QUESTIONS REGARDING THE 
APPLICATION OF CHAPTER 119, FLORIDA STATUTES, TO THE 
CONTRACTORS DUTY TO PROVIDE PUBLIC RECORDS RELATING 
TO THIS CONTRACT, CONTACT THE CUSTODIAN OF PUBLIC 
RECORD AT: 

LEON COUNTY RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 
ATTN: RON MILLER, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
1736 W. PAUL DIRAC DRIVE 
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32310 
PHONE: 850-575-0343 
EMAIL: RMILLER@INN-PARK.COM 

 
9. CANCELLATION OR DEFAULT.  In the event the Contractor’s performance is 
deficient, the LCRDA shall notify the Contractor in writing of the deficiencies and the 
Contractor shall have ten (10) days to correct such deficiencies.  Should the Contractor fail to 
take appropriate action (acceptable to the LCRDA in its sole discretion) to correct such 
deficiencies, the LCRDA, in addition to all remedies available to it by law, may immediately 
upon written notice to Contractor by U.S. Mail terminate this Agreement whereupon all 
payments, advances or other compensation paid by LCRDA to the Contractor while Contractor 
was in default shall be immediately returned to the LCRDA.  Contractor understands and agrees 
that termination of this Agreement under this section shall not release Contractor from any 
obligation accruing prior to the effective date of termination.    

 
10. LCRDA’S RIGHT TO TERMINATE.  The LCRDA shall have the right to terminate this 
Agreement, in its sole discretion, at any time, by giving written notice to Contractor at least 
thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of such termination.  In such event, the LCRDA shall 
pay to Contractor compensation for Required Services rendered and expenses incurred prior to 
the effective date of termination.  In no event shall the LCRDA be liable to Contractor for any 
additional compensation, other than that provided herein, or for any consequential or incidental 
damages. 

 
11. STRIKES OR LOCKOUTS.  In the event the Contractor should become involved in a 
labor dispute, strike or lockout, it shall be required to make whatever arrangements that may be 
necessary to ensure that the conditions of the Contract are met in their entirety.  Should the 
Contractor be unable to fulfill the Contract requirements, the LCRDA reserves the right to make 
alternative arrangements to insure the satisfactory completion of work Contractor is unable to 
perform.  Any costs, provided those costs would have been covered under this Agreement, 
incurred by the LCRDA as a result of such job action shall be the responsibility of the 
Contractor.    

Under no circumstances, shall either party be liable for any loss, damage or delay due to 
any cause beyond either party’s reasonable control, including but not limited to acts of 
government, strikes, lockouts, labor disputes, fires, explosion, theft, weather damage, flood, 
earthquake, riot, civil commotion, war, malicious mischief or act of God.  However, in 

Attachment I2 
Page 3 of 16

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 114 of 186



 

 4

connection with any causes, if the Contractor has a duty to take certain actions, it shall be 
responsible for the losses caused by the Contractor’s negligent acts or omissions.   

Under no circumstances, shall either party be liable for special, indirect or consequential 
damages of any kind including, but not limited to, loss of profits, loss of good will, loss of 
business opportunity, additional financing costs or loss of use of any equipment or property, 
whether in contract, tort, warranty or otherwise, notwithstanding any indemnity provision to the 
contrary. 
 
12. NOTICES.  All notices or other communications required under this Agreement shall be 
in writing and shall be given by hand delivery, by U.S. Mail, or by recognized overnight courier 
at the address indicated herein or to such other address as a party may designate by notice given 
as herein provided.  Notice shall be deemed given on the day on which personally delivered, or if 
by mail, on the fifth day after being posted or the date of actual delivery, whichever is earlier, or 
if by courier, on the date of receipt. 
 

If to Contractor: 
 
Oliver Sperry Renovation and Construction, Inc. 
401 Office Plaza Drive 
Tallahassee, FL 32301 
Attention: Todd Sperry, Vice President/CFO 
tsperry@oliversperryrenovation.com 
 
If to LCRDA: 

 
Leon County Research and Development Authority  
1736 West Paul Dirac Drive  

 Tallahassee, FL 32310  
Attention: Ron Miller, Executive Director  
Rmiller@inn-park.com 
 

With copies to:  
 

Nelson Mullins Broad and Cassell 
Attention:  Melissa VanSickle 
215 South Monroe Street, Suite 400 
Tallahassee, FL 32301 
Melissa.VanSickle@nelsonmullins.com 

 
13. MISCELLANEOUS 
 

a. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced according to the laws of the State 
of Florida.  Venue for all purposes shall be Leon County, Florida. 

b. The captions in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference and in 
no way define, describe or limit the scope or intent of the provisions of this 
Agreement. 

Attachment I2 
Page 4 of 16

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 115 of 186



 

 5

c. No waiver or breach of any provision of this Agreement shall constitute a waiver 
of any subsequent breach of the same or any other provision hereof, and no 
waiver shall be effective unless made in writing. 

d. Should any provision, paragraph, sentence, word or phrase contained in this 
Agreement be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, 
illegal or otherwise unenforceable under the laws of the State of Florida, such 
provision, paragraph, sentence, word or phrase shall be deemed modified to the 
extent necessary in order to conform with such laws or if not modifiable, then 
same shall be deemed severable, and in either event, the remaining terms and 
provisions of this Agreement shall remain unmodified and in full force and effect 
or limitation of its use. 

e. The filing of any petitions in bankruptcy whether voluntary or involuntary on the 
part of Contractor, shall give LCRDA the right to terminate this Agreement. 

f. No amendment, change or modification of this Agreement shall be valid or 
binding upon the parties unless same shall be in writing and signed by the parties.  

g. This agreement, including all attachments and exhibits thereto, constitutes the full 
agreement of the parties and there are no further or other agreements, statements 
or warranties, whether written or oral, relied upon or in between them relating to 
the subject matter hereof, except as expressly herein stated.  This Agreement shall 
inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties, their successors and 
assigns. 

h. This Agreement shall not be assigned by Contractor, in whole or in part, without 
the prior written consent of the LCRDA, which may be withheld or conditioned, 
in the LCRDA’s sole discretion, and any such purported assignment in breach of 
this Agreement shall be null and void.  The LCRDA reserves the right to assign 
this Agreement without first obtaining the consent of Contractor.   

i. The prevailing party in any action or proceeding to enforce this Agreement or for 
damages or declaratory relief in connection herewith shall be entitled to recover 
its reasonable costs and expenses, including attorney’s fees, and costs through 
litigation, all appeals and any bankruptcy proceedings.  LCRDA’s liability to pay 
such costs and expenses shall be limited to the extent provided in Section 768.28 
Florida Statutes, as may be amended from time to time.  Nothing herein shall be 
construed to be a waiver of LCRDA’s sovereign immunity. 

j. Contractor shall be an independent contractor and not an employee, partner or 
joint venture of LCRDA under this Agreement.  Contractor shall be responsible 
for all income taxes, social security taxes, self-employment taxes and any other 
taxes to which Contractor or LCRDA may be subject to as a result of this 
Agreement or Contractor’s performance hereunder. 

k. Contractor shall comply with all LCRDA rules and regulations, as they may be 
amended from time to time, governing access to and conduct on the property. 

Attachment I2 
Page 5 of 16

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 116 of 186



 

 6

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement on the date first 
written above.         

 

THE CONTRACTOR  
Oliver Sperry Renovation and Construction, Inc. 
a State of Florida corporation 
 
 
By: ___________________________________ 
 
Name: Todd Sperry 
 
Title: Vice President/CFO 
       
 
THE LCRDA 
Leon County Research and Development Authority, 
a public Authority created pursuant to Chapter 159, Part V, Florida Statutes 
 
 
By: _______________________________________ 
 
Name: David B. Ramsay 
 
Title:   Chair 

 
       

Attachment I2 
Page 6 of 16

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 117 of 186



7

EXHIBIT A 
REQUIRED SERVICES 

Required Services: 
1. As shown in Exhibit A-1 remove walls in training room and kitchen, manipulate electrical

(light switches and plugs) and adjust or replace ceiling grid as needed; relocate thermostat
from any demo wall as needed

2. Provide and install 12' "box" cabinets top and bottom with counter top, with sink, faucet,
garbage disposal, and basin pump tied into existing hot/cold water and drain; install/relocate
electrical outlets for refrigerator & counter top; matching "bar" height cabinet and top with
appropriate overhang for bar seating

3. In assistant area, build 4' drywall wall with stained wood cap--retain min 36" aisle opening
4. Provide and install (2) half lite doors with panic exit bars and (1) full lite door as indicated on

Exhibit B
5. Repair wall, reinstall existing door & casing in lab and old conference room
6. Provide and replace all ceiling tiles in all new painted areas
7. Paint with 2 coats all walls (including touching up drywall) and door casings in areas with

new floor covering as well as the restrooms
8. Remove and replace existing carpet and cove base with carpet and LVT as indicated in

Exhibit B
9. Provide appropriate transitions between new carpet, new LVT, and existing floor coverings
10. Contractor shall coordinate owner's vendor installation of electronic door access on all new

doors
11. Acquire and pay for all required permits
12. Remove all debris from site
13. Site shall be clean and move-in ready upon completion
14. Access to occupied areas, including common area restrooms shall be maintained and

coordinated with existing tenant

All materials are to be provided as specified in Exhibit A-2. 

Required Services shall include the scope of work detailed in the Contractors response to RFP 
19-02 and included in Exhibit A-3.

Attachment I2 
Page 7 of 16

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 118 of 186



C
ar
pe
t

C
ar
pe
t

LV
T

P
ai
nt
O
nl
y

A
dd

1/
2
Li
te
D
oo
r
(2
)

w
ith

pa
ni
c
ex
it
ba
r

A
dd

F
ul
lL
ite

D
oo
r

R
ep
ai
r
w
al
l,
re
in
st
al
ld
oo
r
&
ca
si
n
g
(2
)

R
em

ov
e
w
al
ls
fr
om

tr
ai
ni
ng

ro
om

an
d
ki
tc
he
n

C
ab
in
et
s

1.
A
s
sh
ow

n
in
sk
et
ch

re
m
ov
e
w
al
ls
in
tr
ai
ni
ng

ro
om

an
d
ki
tc
he
n,
m
an
ip
ul
at
e
el
ec
tr
ic
al
(li
gh
ts
w
itc
he
s
an
d

pl
ug
s)
an
d
ad
ju
st
or
re
pl
ac
e
ce
ili
ng

gr
id
as

ne
ed
ed
;r
el
oc
at
e
th
er
m
os
ta
tf
ro
m
an
y
de
m
o
w
al
la
s
ne
ed
ed

2.
P
ro
vi
de

an
d
in
st
al
l1
2'
"b
ox
"
ca
bi
ne
ts
to
p
an
d
bo
tto
m
w
ith

co
un
te
r
to
p,
w
ith

si
nk
,f
au
ce
ta
nd

ba
si
n
pu
m
p
tie
d

in
to
ex
is
tin
g
ho
t/c
ol
d
w
at
er
an
d
dr
ai
n;
in
st
al
l/r
el
oc
at
e
el
ec
tr
ic
al
ou
tle
ts
fo
r
re
fr
ig
er
at
or
&
co
un
te
r
to
p;
m
at
ch
in
g

"b
ar
"
he
ig
ht
ca
bi
ne
ta
nd

to
p
w
ith

ap
pr
op
ria
te
ov
er
ha
ng

fo
r
ba
r
se
at
in
g

3.
In
as
si
st
an
ta
re
a,
bu
ild

4'
dr
yw

al
lw

al
lw

ith
st
ai
ne
d
w
oo
d
ca
p-
-r
et
ai
n
m
in
36
"
ai
sl
e
op
en
in
g

4.
P
ro
vi
de

an
d
in
st
al
l(
2)
ha
lf
lit
e
do
or
s
w
ith

pa
ni
c
ex
it
ba
rs
an
d
(1
)
fu
ll
lit
e
do
or
as

in
di
ca
te
d
on

sk
et
ch

5.
R
ep
ai
r
w
al
l,
re
in
st
al
le
xi
st
in
g
do
or
&
ca
si
ng

in
la
b
an
d
ol
d
co
nf
er
en
ce

ro
om

6.
P
ro
vi
de

an
d
re
pl
ac
e
al
lc
ei
lin
g
til
es

in
al
ln
ew

pa
in
te
d
ar
ea
s

7.
P
ai
nt
w
ith

2
co
at
s
al
lw

al
ls
(in
cl
ud
in
g
to
uc
hi
ng

up
dr
yw

al
l)
an
d
do
or
ca
si
ng
s
in
ar
ea
s
w
ith

ne
w
flo
or
co
ve
rin
g

as
w
el
la
s
th
e
re
st
ro
om

s
8.
R
em

ov
e
an
d
re
pl
ac
e
ex
is
tin
g
ca
rp
et
an
d
co
ve

ba
se

w
ith

ca
rp
et
an
d
LV

T
as

in
di
ca
te
d
in
sk
et
ch

9.
P
ro
vi
de

ap
pr
op
ria
te
tr
an
si
tio
ns

be
tw
ee
n
ne
w
ca
rp
et
,n
ew

LV
T
,a
nd

ex
is
tin
g
flo
or
co
ve
rin
gs

10
.C

on
tr
ac
to
r
sh
al
lc
oo
rd
in
at
e
ow

ne
r's

ve
nd
or
in
st
al
la
tio
n
of
el
ec
tr
on
ic
do
or
ac
ce
ss

on
al
ln
ew

do
or
s

11
.A

cq
ui
re
al
lr
eq
ui
re
d
pe
rm
its

12
.R

em
ov
e
al
ld
eb
ris

fr
om

si
te

13
S
ite

sh
al
lb
e
cl
ea
n
an
d
m
ov
e-
in
re
ad
y
up
on

co
m
pl
et
io
n

14
.A

cc
es
s
to
oc
cu
pi
ed

ar
ea
s,
in
cl
ud
in
g
co
m
m
on

ar
ea

re
st
ro
om

s
sh
al
lb
e
m
ai
nt
ai
ne
d
an
d
co
or
di
na
te
d
w
ith

ex
is
tin
g
te
na
nt

S
pa
ce

fo
r
ow

ne
r
pr
ov
id
ed

33
"
re
fr
ig
er
at
or

1/
2
w
al
li
n
as
si
st
an
ta
re
a

A
ss
is
ta
nt

A
dd

w
al
lt
o
en
cl
os
e
tr
ai
ni
ng

ro
om

E
xh
ib
it
B

R
F
P
19
-0
2
C
ol
lin
s
B
ui
ld
in
g
R
ep
ai
r
an
d
R
en
ov
at
io
n

O
cc
up
ie
d

8

Attachment I2 
Page 8 of 16

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 119 of 186



9

Exhibit A-2 
Material Specifications 

All materials shall be the same or better quality compared to that specified below.  Contractor 
shall provide samples to the LCRDA for selection and approval. Any required material not listed 
shall be commercial quality typically used in Class B or better office space.  Reference materials 
are samples examined by the LCRDA in determining specifications. Proposed materials must be 
clearly identified and any deviations from the following specs noted. 

1. Carpet

Commercial grade, Nylon, 20-ounce Tufted Weight,1/10-gauge, glue down--no pad
Reference: Philadelphia Mainstreet, New Statement, Send Packing 94501

2. Resilient Flooring (LVT)

Luxury Vinyl Plank, Class III Printed Film, Type B (embossed), Wear layer thickness 20 mil,
Overall thickness 2.5mm, 6” nominal width, 48” nominal length, direct glue installation,
ADA Compliant slip resistance.
Reference: Philadelphia Commercial LVT, Sustain 20 5535V, FIR 00174

3. Wall Base

Vinyl cove base, glue down 4”, 1/8” thick (toeless for carpet areas, with toe for LVT areas)
Reference: Johnsonite Traditional Wall Base 4”, 71 Storm Cloud CG

4. Paint

a. Walls: Egg Shell, single color; Reference: Sherwin Williams Ice Cube SW6252
b. Door Trim: Semi-gloss, single color; Reference: Sherwin Williams Serious Gray

SW6256

5. Doors

All: Commercial grade solid core wood door, 1-3/4”, 36” x 80”, finish to match existing
Qty 1-Full glass
Qty 2-Half glass

Hardware: Hinges, lockable lever trim door handles, panic bar exit devices, door closer
w/hold open arm, wall stop, satin chrome finish, medium duty

6. Cabinets (Reference: Home Depot Hampton Bay Cognac Collection)
a. Back wall (total width ~12’)

i. Base: 24” deep x 34.5” high, 1 sink unit, 1 shelf unit, remaining drawer units
ii. Wall units: 12” deep x 30” high, 2 door shelf units
iii. Top: Laminate with integrated back splash and rolled edges

b. Bar (total width ~12’)
i. Base cabinets 42” height x 24” deep

Attachment I2 
Page 9 of 16

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 120 of 186



10

ii. Laminate top, min 10” overhang on seating side

c. All cabinet molding, and end panels and fillers as required

d. Hardware

Dynasty Hardware European Style, 5.25” long, 3” Center-to Center Satin Nickle Bar
Cabinet Pull
Reference: Home Depot Model# P-1001-SN, Internet #206951260

7. Sink & Garbage Disposal

a. Sink: 33” Brushed Stainless Steel, drop in, 2 bowl 8 in deep, 50/50, 3-hole, 18 gauge
Reference: Home Depot Transolid Model CRDE332228-3, Internet #305856139

b. Garbage disposal: 1/3 hp continuous feed

8. Faucet

Single-Handle Pull-Down Sprayer Kitchen Faucet, Stainless Steel
Reference: Home Depot Fairbury Model 4005SSF, Sku# 529222

9. Basin Pump

Proposer to provide specifications based on application

10. ½ Wall in Assistant Area

Metal stud, drywall, painted
Top, 1” x 6” oak, rounded edges, bottom edges trimmed

Attachment I2 
Page 10 of 16

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 121 of 186



11

Attachment I2 
Page 11 of 16

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 122 of 186



12

Attachment I2 
Page 12 of 16

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 123 of 186



13

Attachment I2 
Page 13 of 16

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 124 of 186



14

EXHIBIT B 
COMPENSATION 

Optional Services: 
Furnish and install new R-19 ceiling insulation, add…. $6,478 

• Demo existing ceiling insulation
• Place in dumpsters and dispose of properly
• Install 6,450sf of new R-19 insulation above the ceiling grid

Payment requests shall be made monthly based on Standard AIA Application and Certificate for 
Payment documents.  5% of Completed Work shall be retained from each payment until 
substantial completion of the Required Services including any punch list items and cleaning.  

Attachment I2 
Page 14 of 16

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 125 of 186



 

 15

 
EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE 
 

a. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.  Contractor shall, at its sole cost, maintain limits no less 
than the following throughout the Term: 

i. General Liability.  $1,000,000 combined single limit per occurrence for 
bodily injury, personal injury and property damage with a $2,000,000 annual 
aggregate.  Contractor’s insurance shall include LCRDA as an additional 
insured as provided herein below. 

ii. Automobile Liability:  $1,000,000 combined single limit per accident for 
bodily injury and property damage for non-owned, hired automobile.  
Contractor’s insurance shall include LCRDA as an additional insured as 
provided herein below. The requirements of this provision may be waived 
upon submission by Contractor of a written statement that no automobiles 
are used to conduct business. 

iii. Worker’s Compensation and Employers Liability:  Insurance covering all 
employees meeting statutory requirements in compliance with the applicable 
state and federal laws.  In lieu of naming LCRDA as an additional insured, 
Contractor shall provide to LCRDA a waiver of all rights of subrogation 
against LCRDA with respect to losses payable under such workers’ 
compensation policy(ies). 

b. AMENDED INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS.  LCRDA reserves the right to reasonably 
amend the insurance requirements to standards reasonable and customary for the size and 
type of business being conducted by Contractor by the issuance of a notice in writing to 
Contractor.  The Contractor shall provide any other insurance or security reasonably 
required by LCRDA.   

c. DEDUCTIBLES AND SELF-INSURED RETENTIONS.  Any deductibles or self-insured 
retentions applicable to any of Contractor’s policies required above shall be declared to and 
approved by LCRDA.  Thereafter, at the request of LCRDA, Contractor shall cause its 
insurer to reduce or eliminate such deductibles or self-insured retentions as they may apply 
to LCRDA, its agents, officers, officials, employees and volunteers or, in lieu of such 
reductions or eliminations, Contractor shall procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses 
and related investigations, claims administration, and defense expenses. 

d. LCRDA AS ADDITIONAL INSURED.  LCRDA, its agents, officers, officials, employees, 
and volunteers are to be named and covered as additional insureds, with no limitations on 
the scope of protection afforded, in all of Contractor’s insurance policies, other than 
workers’ compensation policies, that include coverage for the following: 

i. liability arising from, or in connection with, activities performed by, or on 
behalf of, Contractor; 

ii. products and completed operations of Contractor; 

iii. premises owned, occupied, or used by Contractor; or 

Attachment I2 
Page 15 of 16

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 126 of 186



 

 16

iv. automobiles owned, leased, hired, or borrowed by Contractor. 

e. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE AS PRIMARY.  With regard to claims for injuries to 
persons or damages to property which may arise from, or in connection with, the 
performance by Contractor, its agents, representatives, employees, and/or subcontractors of 
the rights, duties and responsibilities pursuant to this Agreement, Contractor’s insurance 
coverage shall be primary insurance with respect to LCRDA, its agents, officers, officials, 
employees, and volunteers.  As such, any insurance or self-insurance maintained by 
LCRDA, its agents, officers, officials, employees, or volunteers shall be excess of 
Contractor’s insurance and shall not contribute with it.  In such instances when Contractor’s 
insurance coverage is primary, Contractor hereby waives all rights of subrogation against 
LCRDA with respect to losses payable under such insurance coverage. 

f. CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE.  Contractor shall furnish LCRDA with certificates of 
insurance and with any original endorsements evidencing the coverages described above.  
Such certificates shall be signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on 
its behalf.  All certificates and endorsements are to be received and approved by LCRDA 
prior to the commencement of Contractor’s services under this Agreement.  LCRDA 
reserves the right to require complete, certified copies of all Contractor’s required insurance 
policies at any time.  Each of Contractor’s required insurance policies shall be endorsed to 
state that coverage shall not be suspended, voided, cancelled by either party, or reduced in 
coverage or in limits except after thirty (30) days prior written notice by certified mail, 
return receipt requested, has been given to LCRDA.  All of Contractor’s required insurance 
policies shall be placed with insurers with a Best’s rating of no less than A:VII and which 
are licensed in the state of Florida. 

g. OTHER ENDORSEMENTS REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.  Each of 
Contractor’s required insurance policies shall contain endorsements for, or otherwise 
provide, the following: 

i. that any failure to comply with the reporting provisions of the policies shall 
not affect coverage provided to LCRDA, its agents, officers, officials, 
employees, or volunteers; 

ii. that, to the extent of insurer’s limits of liability, Contractor’s insurance 
coverage shall apply separately to each insured against whom claims are 
made or suit is brought; and 

iii. that the companies issuing the insurance policy(ies) shall have no recourse 
against LCRDA for payment of premiums or assessments for any 
deductibles which are the sole responsibility and risk of Contractor. 

 
 

Attachment I2 
Page 16 of 16

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 127 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 1 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 128 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 2 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 129 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 3 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 130 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 4 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 131 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 5 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 132 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 6 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 133 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 7 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 134 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 8 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 135 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 9 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 136 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 10 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 137 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 11 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 138 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 12 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 139 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 13 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 140 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 14 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 141 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 15 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 142 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 16 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 143 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 17 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 144 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 18 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 145 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 19 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 146 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 20 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 147 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 21 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 148 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 22 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 149 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 23 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 150 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 24 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 151 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 25 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 152 of 186



Attachment I3 
Page 26 of 26

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 153 of 186



AIA FORMAT COST BREAKDOWN 

General Conditions 
Demolition 
Carpentry 
Millwork 

Doors & Hardware 

Framing & Drywall 

Acoustic Ceilings 

Flooring (demo included below) 

Carpet 

LVT 

Cove Base & Transitions 

Paint 

Plumbing 

HVAC 

Electrical 

ADDs 

Subtotal 

Profit & OH 

Construction Cost 

Architectural Fees 

Total 

.. 

$ 6,500.00 
$ 5,820.00 
$ 2,500.00 
$ 15,844.00 
$ 5,500.00 
$ 3,500.00 

$10,720.00 
26,000.00 

$ 4,800.00 
$ 3,525.00 
$ 660.00 
i12,no.oo· .. · 

$108,089.00' 
i 21,617.80 
$ 6,485.34 
1 3,500.00 
$139,692.14 

Furnish and install new R-19 ceiling insulation, add ...................................................... $ 3,894.00 
Demo existing ceiling insulation 

Place in dumpsters and dispose of properly 

Install 6,450sf of new R-19 insulation above the ceiling grid 

Information Provided by: 

W estScott Construction, Inc. 

3927 North Monroe Street 

Tallahassee, Florida 32303 

850.841.9102 

info@westscottinc.com 

/))�r9-&7t

' 

WestScott Revised  Proposal

Attachment I4 
Page 1 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 154 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 2 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 155 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 3 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 156 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 4 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 157 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 5 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 158 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 6 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 159 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 7 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 160 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 8 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 161 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 9 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 162 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 10 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 163 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 11 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 164 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 12 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 165 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 13 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 166 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 14 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 167 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 15 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 168 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 16 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 169 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 17 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 170 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 18 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 171 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 19 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 172 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 20 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 173 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 21 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 174 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 22 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 175 of 186



Attachment I4 
Page 23 of 23

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 176 of 186



TechGrant Pitch Night- Task List 

When # of Volunteers Tasks 

Before Event 1 volunteer Set up welcome registration, layout nametags on table, greet 
presenters and guide them to their display area 

2 volunteers Put out event books and surveys 

1 volunteer Set up judges table, put out centerpieces, put out stanchions for VIP 

1 or 2 
volunteers 

Hang sponsor banner, IP and Presenting Sponsor banners, put out 
yard signs to direct attendees 

DB does this Set up computers for presentations 

During Event 
1 or 2 
volunteers 

Greet and Sign in people, answers questions and direct attendees, 
help attendees find their name tag 

2-3 volunteers Collect audience scoresheets before score calculating 

1 volunteer Collect judge's scoresheets after each presentation to give to Peggy/ 
Help Ron and Dave give awards at end 

After Event 
1 or 2 
volunteers 

Collect Audience Surveys and pick up trash/leftover materials from 
tables 

1 or 2 
volunteers 

Collect centerpieces and stanchions 

DB Photos of Winner 
1 or 2 
volunteers 

Tear down banners and bring in yard signs 

1 or 2 
volunteers 

Help pack up materials 

Attachment J 
Page 1 of 1

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 177 of 186



Executive Director’s Report 
4/4/2019 

 Priorities  2019  2020  2021 

Strategy 
Jan‐
Mar 

Apr‐
Jun 

Jul‐
Sep 

Oct‐
Dec 

Jan‐
Mar 

Apr‐
Jun 

Jul‐
Sep 

Oct‐
Dec 

Jan‐
Mar 

Apr‐
Jun 

Jul‐
Sep 

Oct‐
Dec 

Incubator development 

Collins renovation 

Develop resource assessment plan 

Develop renovation plan 

Assess new facility needs 

Develop future land use plan 

Streamline development process & requirements 

Identify and develop services & amenities 

Develop marketing plan 

Partner with OEV to recruit private companies 

Develop collaboration plan with airport 

Assess other collaboration possibilities 

Strategy  Status 

1) Goal: Construct and equip the incubator by December 31, 2020
and have 50% occupied by December 31, 2021

a) Construct, equip and open the incubator

i) Obtain EDA grant and secure partner matching funds  Grant was not awarded; expecting another supplement in a couple of
months and will reapply.

 Received EDA feedback to improve application and will be working with
ARPC and OEV to get additional assistance

 Partner matching funds still committed to this point

ii) Hire architect to manage Design‐Bid‐Build  Working on Collins renovation for temporary incubation space/programs

iii) Create non‐profit to solicit additional needed funds and
manage incubator

 Non‐profit incorporation, bylaws, loan agreement completed

 EIN received, bank resolution approved, insurance applied for

 501(c)(3) application in process

iv) Equip the incubator  MT working on sourcing, but need a place to put equipment

b) Create new/restructured programs  See MT presentation for Board Meeting

i) Collaborate with partner/community programs that can
feed the incubator

 Community is experiencing excess supply of entrepreneurial education
opportunities

Attachment K1 
Page 1 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 178 of 186



      Executive Director’s Report 
4/4/2019 

Strategy  Status 

ii) Provide a technology company focused pre‐incubation 
education component   

 Working with community partners to see where EEP can continue to serve 
small business startups while transitioning our program to technology focus   

 Intent is to build pipeline of tech‐focused startup ready for incubation 

iii) Restructure Tech Grant Program to provide funding to 
feed companies into incubation program 

 Will transition to this as incubation program established 

iv) Develop jointly with university partners a front door for 
private sector access to university assets   

 

2) Goal: Asset Maximization & Readiness    

a) Maximize the value of park assets   

i) Develop a renovation plan for the park   Facilitate and oversee Collins Renovation‐complete in fall 

 Trail waiting final environmental management permit with intent to 
complete trail in June (depending on permit receipt) 

 Draft renovation plan for discussion at August meeting 

ii) Assess new facility needs within the park   

iii) Develop plan for future land use including identifying any 
Geotech issues 

 

b) Get park assets ready to market   

i) Streamline development process and requirements   Met with FSU re: aligning its master plan with Park PUD/C&R 

 Meeting set with Growth Management 4/5 to review needed PUD 
amendments  

 Reviewing draft C&R documents working with Kristin Dozier and General 
Counsel on changes 

ii) Identify and develop more service offerings and amenities
   

 

3) Goal: Attract at least 3 new targeted private companies to 
expand/relocate to Innovation Park by December 31, 2021. 

 

a) Develop a marketing plan for the park with novel approaches 
and improved information about park assets 

 DB has a draft plan.  Will identify gaps and opportunities and offer for 
discussion at June Board meeting 

b) Partner with OEV to recruit private companies to the park   

4) Goal: Develop new partnerships and collaborations and strengthen 
current partner relationships 

 

a) Develop a collaboration plan jointly with the Tallahassee 
Airport Authority board and senior leaders 

 

b) Assess other collaboration possibilities   

Attachment K1 
Page 2 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 179 of 186



      Executive Director’s Report 
4/4/2019 

Strategy  Status 

5) Goal: Develop a resource assessment plan   Putting together 5 year forecast and draft assessment for June Board of 
Governor’s meeting discussion 

a) Identify new revenues/opportunities and consider future 
impact of lost revenues 

 

b) Determine other options/issues affecting resources—current 
and potential 

 

Other Activities 

 Hosted meeting for Innovation Park tenants with OEV airport 
hotel prospect 

 Commissioner Elaine Bryant Briefing 

 Dr. Laurel Fulkerson, FSU Alternate Designee Briefing 

 Participated in FSU Master Planning meeting with their 
consultants 

 Finalize audit, adjust footnotes, and write Management 
Discussion and Analysis 

 Worked with FSU engineer related to Technology Services 
Building renovation/parking  

 Worked with FSU engineer related to IRCB DRC application and 
variance questions 

 Worked with Danfoss engineers and City regarding crosswalk 
speed table for new parking lot 

 Met with FDOT Phipps tenant to get better acquainted, discuss 

long‐term plans, and potential lease restructuring 

 Attended FSU Research Foundation Innovators Reception 

 Promoted participation in Tech Day at the Capitol with key 

stakeholders 

 Participated in TCC Innovation Center Entangled Group 

planning meeting 

 Judge at Chiles High School JABB “Shark Bowl” preliminary 

elevator pitches 

 Audit Committee Meeting 

 Executive Committee Meeting  

 Tech Grant Program support 

 RFP 19‐02 Material specifications, pre‐bid meeting, Q&A, and 

proposal evaluation 

 Listed available Morgan space on LoopNet subscription and 
updated leasing flyer  

 Extended FSU ISPA & CBTR Morgan Leases 

 Reviewed ADA website document compliance requirements—

staff making plan for compliance 

 Michael Tentnowski performance evaluation

Coming Up

 Strategic Plan Execution 

 Meeting with Florida DEO Director 

 Meeting with Growth Management re: PUD 

 Dr. McLendon, TCC Alternate Designee Briefing 

 Tech Grant Elevator Pitch Night 

 Development Review Committee: FSU IT Services Parking and 
Sidewalk 

 Tallahassee 100 speaking engagement 

 Collins Building Renovation execution 

 Trail groundbreaking (anticipated) 

 Tech Day at the Capitol Legislative Reception 

 Host Jim Moran School of Entrepreneurship Class for Innovation 
Park Briefing 

Attachment K1 
Page 3 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 180 of 186



Director of Entrepreneurship Report – March 2019 

 Did not receive EDA grant
 I-Corps Class II completed
 SBIR/STTR

o Third seminar on Proposal Writing – March 27th

o Training for SBA Certification: 10-week course
 EEP Class 16 starts April 9th

o Four people signed up
o Class time and effort counted under the REACH grant

 Finished judging the LCRDA Tech Grant competition
 Collaboration Efforts

o Signed on three additional mentors
o Joint mentor database kick-off event – March 26th

o Worked with Florida Tech Council on Tech Day at the Capital 

 Applied for $100,000 Gannett grant, but ineligible (no 501(c)(3))
 Working on 2019 FAST grant

Attachment K2 
Page 1 of 1

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 181 of 186



Director of Programs and Communications Report- BOG 4.4.19 

TechGrant 

1. Received 9 applicants
2. Raised $8,750 in Sponsorships/ Budget
3. 5 Communications Agencies Helping this year:

a. Fiore Communications
b. Bowstern
c. Salter Mitchell PR
d. Sachs Media
e. RB Oppenheim

4. 5 Judges- Preliminary Judges will also be Pitch Night Judges
a. Received Preliminary Scoresheets and announced the finalists on March 27

5. Event is taking place at Goodwood Museum and Gardens Carriage House on May 16
a. Food vendor: Fran Doxsee
b. Tables clothes and additional table: Party Party Party
c. Drinks- We will buy beer, wine, etc., Bartenders provided by On the Rocks
d. AV: PSG

6. MagLab will be doing video again this year and creating a 2-3 minute video specifically for
Innovation Park   (Updates maybe from: Jason Robotham and…. Diatech?) 

7. Created list of tasks needed to be done before, during and after the event.  Will be posted to a
google doc and sent for people to sign up.  Leadership Tallahassee (Barbara Boone)  will also be
asking for volunteers but this is not guaranteed.   (List is attached)

TechTopics 

1. Event took place on March 6 at the MagLab.  Centered on the Applied Superconductivity Center
2. Over 30 attendees
3. Next event will take place at the end of August. (Will send calendar invite when date is finalized)

Website 

1. Continuing to work on SEO
2. Added 4 new organizations to the Park- Axion Technologies, Center for Indigenous Nursing

Research for Health Equity, Center for Translational Behavioral Science, The Institute for Justice
Research and Development

3. Added IP TLH page
4. Added information about CAPS construction to Innovation Park Projects page

Entrepreneurship Programs Support 

1. Sending out information via E-blasts, Chamber
2. Posting information on Website
3. Posting on social media

Attachment K3 
Page 1 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 182 of 186



Director of Programs and Communications Report- BOG 4.4.19 

 
Newsletter and Social Updates 

1. February Newsletter- 23% Open Rate/ 15% click rate. Sent to 1,335 (1,137 successful deliveries) 
2. March Newsletter- 22% Open rate/ 17% Click Rate. Sent to 1,142 (1,127 successful deliveries) 

a. *In March- bad emails were removed from our lists  
3. Facebook/Twitter, and weekly posting on Instagram and Linkedin.  
4. Social Media Stats (changes since August meeting): Facebook- 237 , Twitter- 436 (+4), 

Instagram- 357 (+18),  Linkedin- 33 (+1) 

 

Other Activities 

1. Meeting with WFSU to discuss Partnerships next Tuesday 
2. Tech Day at the Capital- Display 
3. Science Weekend- MagLab had over 10,800 attendees! Beat out previous records by more than 

2,000.  We sponsored the bus that transported people around to different buildings including 
COE, AME, HPMI, COAPS.  Signs were posted at each bus stop with our logo.  Bus was utilized by 
attendees. 

4. Branding of the Incubator/Incubation program- need help. Brainstorming session with 
SalterMitchell? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment K3 
Page 2 of 2

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 183 of 186



NAI Talcor Property Manager’s Report to the 
Leon County R&D Authority Board of Governors 

1/30/2019‐3/27/2019 

1 

Occupancy: 

Building 
Leasable 

Square Feet 
Vacant 

Square Feet  % Vacant 

Phipps  14,661  0  0% 

Morgan  23,240  985  5% 

Johnson  28,385  0  0% 

Collins  24,900  22,974  92% 

Knight  3,060  0  0% 

Total  94,246  23,959  25% 

Non‐Routine Repairs & Maintenance: 

Building 
Completed Since Last 

Report  In Process  Deferred/To Do 

Phipps   Install new door handle
on exterior door.

 Repaired broken main
line to building.

 Install new door closer.  The irrigation system is not
connected and has no
backflow.

Morgan   Repaired blinds
 Filled in pot holes in
parking areas.

Maintenance continues to
balance the HVAC for the
building.

 Repairing walls and touch up
paint as needed.

 Replace one light fixture.

 Common areas ‐ Carpet
cleaning and the interior of
entrance ways.

Johnson   Duct detectors were
replaced.

 3‐year pressure test
completed.

 Shut off valve for fire
sprinkler test drain
replaced.

 Repaired the 440 box for
parking lot lights.

 Replaced three parking
lot pole lights.

 Light fixture in womens
restroom, 1st floor.

 GSA requested items from
recent inspection.

 Repair drinking fountain in
first floor lobby.

 Fan in elevator.

 Paint one wall in lobby area.

 Missing up light on right side
of Johnson building.

Attachment K4 
Page 1 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 184 of 186



NAI Talcor Property Manager’s Report to the 
Leon County R&D Authority Board of Governors 

1/30/2019‐3/27/2019 

2 
 

Building 
Completed Since Last 

Report  In Process  Deferred/To Do 

Collins   Repaired roof on 
backside of the building. 

 Replacement of ceiling 
tiles from roof leak.  

 Kitchen door repaired. 
 Caulked sink in kitchen 
and tightened water 
lines. 

 Filled pot holes in parking 
areas. 

 Maintenance continues to 
balance the HVAC in the 
building.  

 Change out two exterior light 
fixtures. 
 

 Pending renovation: ceiling 
tiles need replaced 

 One full HVAC complete 
system change out.  

Knight   Repaired HVAC. 
 Repaired ice maker to 
refrigerator.  

 Quarterly Pest control 
was completed. 

 All screens in need of 
replacement.  
 

 Back deck in need of repair. 
Wood rot is visible and deck 
needs paint.  

 Exterior paint 

 Interior paint of common 
areas.  

Fuqua   None 
 

 
 

 Paint exterior doors.  
 Replace light fixture in 
elevator.  

 EXIT light on first floor. 
 

 

  Irrigation repair to the flower 
beds in the atrium areas.  

 Planting of flowers in flower 
beds to be planted once 
irrigation repairs have been 
completed in the spring. 

Common 
 
 

 Install “No Fishing” 
signs around the central 
pond 
 

 Maintenance continues to 
straighten and clean all signs. 
Some signs are being hit by 
trucks or busses causing them 
to lean, bending the metal 
sign posts.  

 Replace damaged backflow 
covers. Maintenance is taking 
inventory of all covers that 
need to be replaced. 
Manager will get quotes and 
submit to the Executive 
Director.  

 Irrigation repairs around 
entrance monument signs. 

 Plants and flowers around 
entrance monument signs.  
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Attachment K4 
Page 2 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 185 of 186



NAI Talcor Property Manager’s Report to the 
Leon County R&D Authority Board of Governors 

1/30/2019‐3/27/2019 

3 
 

Accounts Receivable Past Due as of Report Date (30+days): 

Tenant 
Invoice 
Date 

Invoice 
Amount 

Last Contact 
Date 

Tenant Response/Date to be 
Paid/Comments 

FSU TSB  12/18/18  $5,970.59  3/27/19  Property Manager spoke with Debra Gill, 
accounts payable for FSU. She is processing. 
Will have payment in the next two weeks.  

NWRDC  12/18/18  $3,071.33  3/27/19  This is also processed by the same 
department and person as FSU TSB. Payment 
expected in the next two weeks.  

AME/HPMI  12/18/18  $5,944.48  3/27/19  Also, processed by FSU accounts payable. 
Payment is expected in the next two weeks. 

 

Tenant Issues Encountered, Status of Other Outstanding Issues, Contract Procurements, Projects, 

Accounting issues, etc.: 

1. Newly contracted HVAC company, Engineered Cooling Services has done a detailed inspection of 

all HVAC units. They have sent the manager several bids for repairs. Manager is in the process of 

compiling the repairs in the spread sheet to submit to the Executive Director for review.   

2. Elevator Inspection was completed on both Johnson and Morgan buildings. Johnson inspection 

passed but the Morgan/Fuqua Ctr. Elevator did not. It requires one of the sensors to be 

replaced. Vendor is in the process of getting the manager a quote. 

Management is working on the following projects:  

1. National Park Service has requested that their carpet be replaced as per their lease. 

Management has acquired three bids with the lowest being from Big Bend Flooring Company in 

the amount of $22,497.95. Carpet will be installed upon board approval.  

2. FDOT/Phipps building painting is in process and will be completed by mid‐April.  

 

 

 

 

  

Attachment K4 
Page 3 of 3

Leon County R&D Authority 
Board of Governors Meeting; Apr. 4, 2019 

Page 186 of 186


	2019-04-04 BOG Agenda
	A-2019-02-07 DRAFT BoG meeting mins
	B-2019-03-26 Exec Comm REPORT
	C-2018-02-28 Audit Comm REPORT
	D-Treasurers Report 2019-04-04
	E1-Investment Rollforward 2019-01
	E2-Investment Rollforward 2019-02
	F1-0918 Issued Financial Statements - LCRDA
	F2-0918 Issued Report to Those Charged with Governance - LCRDA
	G1-Big Bend Floor Covering Johnson Building 2019 Agreement
	G2-2019 NPS-Johnson Carpet Bids pdf
	H-Loan Agreement - IPTLH
	I1-RFP 19-02 Review and Recommendation
	I2-RFP 19-02 Collins Building Repair and Renovation Contract -Oliver Sperry
	I3-Oliver Sperry RFP 19-02 Response
	I4-WestScott Construction RFP 19-02 Response
	J-TechGrant Pitch Night Signup
	K1- Executive Director Report
	K2-Director of Entrepreneurship Report - March 2019
	K3-DPC Report 4.2019
	K4-PM REPORT Feb 2019 -March 2019



